Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: April 26, 2018 REVISED: June 8, 2018 ACCEPTED: June 25, 2018 PUBLISHED: July 2, 2018

New properties of large-c conformal blocks from recursion relation

Yuya Kusuki

Center for Gravitational Physics, Yukawa Institute for Theoretical Physics (YITP), Kyoto University, Kitashirakawa Oiwakecho, Sakyo-ku, Kyoto 606-8502, Japan

E-mail: yuya.kusuki@yukawa.kyoto-u.ac.jp

ABSTRACT: We study large c conformal blocks outside the known limits. This work seems to be hard, but it is possible numerically by using the Zamolodchikov recursion relation. As a result, we find new some properties of large c conformal blocks with a pair of two different dimensions for any channel and with various internal dimensions. With light intermediate states, we find a Cardy-like asymptotic formula for large c conformal blocks and also we find that the qualitative behavior of various large c blocks drastically changes when the dimensions of external primary states reach the value c/32. And we proceed to the study of blocks with heavy intermediate states h_p and we find some simple dependence on heavy h_p for large c blocks. The results in this paper can be applied to, for example, the calculation of OTOC or Entanglement Entropy. In the end, we comment on the application to the conformal bootstrap in large c CFTs.

KEYWORDS: Conformal Field Theory, AdS-CFT Correspondence

ARXIV EPRINT: 1804.06171





Contents

1	Introduction & summary	1
2	Recursion relations for conformal blocks	6
3	AABB blocks	8
	3.1 AABB vacuum blocks	8
	3.2 AABB non-vacuum blocks	10
	3.3 Comments on information loss	12
4	ABBA blocks	13
	4.1 ABBA blocks with light intermediate states	14
	4.2 ABBA blocks with general intermediate states	15
5	Conformal blocks with very heavy intermediate states	17
	5.1 Numerical results for very heavy intermediate states	19
	5.2 Validity of large h asymptotics	21
6	The asymptotic form of conformal blocks	25
	6.1 HLLH and LHHL blocks	25
	6.2 HLHL and LHLH blocks	26
	6.3 HHHH blocks	26
7	Correlator, OTOC and Entanglement Entropy from conformal blocks	27
	7.1 Asymptotic correlators	27
	7.2 Analytic continuation of correlators	29
8	Towards the conformal bootstrap	31
9	Discussion	35
\mathbf{A}	More details of numerical computations	37
	A.1 Well-fitted for any n in the heavy-light limit	37
	A.2 Some extra plots	39
в	Comparing with the semiclassical limit	40
	B.1 Heavy-light limit	40
	B.2 Light-light region	43
С	The asymptotics of heavy-light-light coefficients	44

1 Introduction & summary

Conformal Field Theories (CFTs) in two dimensions have infinite symmetry group and, as a result, 2d CFTs are perfectly specified by a central charge, operator spectrum and OPE coefficients. Moreover, possible CFT data are limited by crossing symmetry and modular invariance, which come from the consistency requirements of CFTs. Recently the bootstrap program, which is based on crossing symmetry or modular invariance, attracts attention to classify CFTs [1–4]. Once we have CFT data, we can construct all the correlators in the CFT by taking a sum of conformal blocks weighted by the OPE coefficients. The conformal blocks correspond to a virtual exchange of a primary operator and its descendants, which are completely determined by conformal symmetry, that is, by using Virasolo algebra in principle [3]. However, we do not know the simple closed form of conformal blocks, except in special cases. Only recursion relations for conformal blocks are known [5, 6], which are very complicated. Therefore, we have not made much progress on the study of conformal blocks, despite decades of effort.

Conformal blocks play a very important role in some scenarios. For example, to solve the bootstrap program in an unknown CFT, one has to know conformal blocks with a central charge and conformal dimensions in the CFT. This conformal bootstrap equation can be described by

$$\sum_{p} C_{12p} C_{34p} \mathcal{F}_{34}^{21}(h_p | z) \overline{\mathcal{F}_{34}^{21}}(\bar{h}_p | \bar{z}) = \sum_{p} C_{14p} C_{23p} \mathcal{F}_{32}^{41}(h_p | 1 - z) \overline{\mathcal{F}_{32}^{41}}(\bar{h}_p | 1 - \bar{z}), \quad (1.1)$$

where C_{ijk} are OPE coefficients and $\mathcal{F}_{kl}^{ij}(h_p|z)$ are conformal blocks, which are usually expressed by using the Feynman diagram as



And also in the context of AdS/CFT correspondence, conformal blocks receive attention recently [7–12] and, in particular, in AdS_3/CFT_2 , the semiclasical Virasoro blocks have been used to probe information loss, which appears in CFT₂ as forbidden singularities and exponential decay at late times [13–16]. This semiclassical blocks can be computed in the dual AdS₃ gravity [17–20]. Some other progresses attributed to conformal blocks are the study of the dynamics of the Renyi entropy [21–23] and out-of-time-ordered correlators (OTOCs) [24].

In this paper, we focus on the letter context, that is, we consider the CFT which is the dual of Einstein gravity in AdS_3 , called *holographic CFT*. Unfortunately, there is a little known data for the holographic CFT for now. Nevertheless, we know that some constrains on a CFT data can be given by using the bootstrap, for example, the bound on spectrum

density [25], the bound on the dimension of a first excited state [26-28] and the universal formula for OPE coefficients [29-33]. We can extract CFT data from conformal blocks.¹

We are interested in large c conformal blocks because it is known that the holographic CFT has a large central charge. Actually in some special limits on external and internal dimensions of blocks, we have useful expressions of large c conformal blocks. However, if one would try to go beyond the limits, even if focusing on the holographic CFT, no simple expression for conformal blocks is found. Nevertheless we can study any conformal block by using the Zamolodchikov recursion relation [5, 6].² Recently this recursion relation is used to probe information loss non-perturbatively in central charge [35], and it shows that the exact conformal blocks in the $O_A O_A \rightarrow O_B O_B$ channel decay as $t^{-\frac{3}{2}}$ at late times, which is quite different behavior from the semiclassical block. It means that a non-perturbative correction in central charge is very important when one would try to probe information loss by using large c conformal blocks.

In our recent paper [23], we study large c vacuum conformal blocks for the correlator $\langle O_B(\infty)O_B(1)O_A(z)O_A(0)\rangle$ in the $O_AO_A \to O_BO_B$ channel. And we find that the qualitative behavior of large c conformal blocks drastically changes at $h_{A,B} = \frac{c}{32}$. This statement is interesting both in physical and mathematical contexts, for example, conformal bootstrap, physical meaning of this transition and so on. And moreover we find the simple asymptotic form of the conformal blocks. More information are in [23] and briefly summarized in section 3.1.

In [23], we focused only on vacuum blocks for the correlator $\langle O_B(\infty)O_B(1)O_A(z)O_A(0)\rangle$ in the $O_AO_A \rightarrow O_BO_B$ channel. But it is also interesting to investigate (i) whether similar properties also hold for conformal blocks with a non-zero (in particular, heavy) intermediate dimension and (ii) whether the similar transition occurs in *ABBA block*, which is the Virasoro block for the correlator $\langle O_A(\infty)O_B(1)O_B(z)O_A(0)\rangle$ in the $O_B(z)O_A(0)$ OPE channel, in that,



which is important because this channel also appears in the bootstrap equation for the correlator $\langle O_B(\infty)O_B(1)O_A(z)O_A(0)\rangle$ as well as the $O_AO_A \to O_BO_B$ channel. Note that in contrast with this ABBA block, we call the following blocks as *AABB blocks*,



¹Here, we interpret the modular bootstrap as a kind of the conformal bootstrap because the torus partition function can be explicitly given by the 4-pt function of twist-2 operators.

 $^{^{2}}$ A good review is given by [34], which also explains the relation between various recursion relations.

and as ABAB blocks, we define



In this paper, we try to address these questions, (i) and (ii). In the following, we summarize our main results:

Result (1):

Denoting ABBA blocks by

$$\mathcal{F}_{BA}^{BA}(h_p|z) = \Lambda(z) \sum_n c_n q^n, \qquad (1.2)$$

where $\Lambda(z)$ is an universal prefactor and q is the elliptic nome defined as

$$q(z) = e^{-\pi \frac{K(1-z)}{K(z)}}$$
(1.3)

where K(z) is an elliptic integral of the first kind, then we can see that the coefficients c_n behave like³

$$c_n \sim n^{\alpha} \mathrm{e}^{A\sqrt{n}} \quad \text{for } n \gg c,$$
 (1.4)

where c_n are always positive, which are different from those of AABB blocks. (See figure 1, which shows the sign pattern of c_n of AABB blocks.)

For $h_p \ll c$, the values of A and α in (1.4) are given by

1. In the heavy-heavy region $(h_A > \frac{c}{32} \text{ and } h_B > \frac{c}{32})$,

$$A = 0,$$

$$\alpha = 4(h_A + h_B) - \frac{c+9}{4}.$$
(1.5)

2. In the region where any h_A and $h_B \ll c$,

$$A = 2\pi \sqrt{\frac{c-1}{24} - 4h_B + \frac{c-1}{6} \left(1 - \sqrt{1 - \frac{24}{c-1}h_B}\right)},$$

$$\alpha = 2(h_A + h_B) - \frac{c+5}{8}.$$
(1.6)

Here we can assume $h_A > h_B$ without loss of generality because the coefficients c_n is symmetric under $h_A \leftrightarrow h_B$ (see (2.12)). What we would like to emphasize here is that there is a transition of ABBA blocks at $h_{A,B} = \frac{c}{32}$ in the same way as AABB

³In this paper, " \simeq " means an approximation by extracting a leading contribution and " \sim " means an approximation up to a constant factor.

blocks. Accordingly, we will use the italic font for "heavy" to discriminate "heavy" from the usual definition of heavy, which means the order of O(c). The italic font means larger than $\frac{c}{32}$. Similarly, we use "light" as smaller than $\frac{c}{32}$. These results are summarized in figure 7.

Note that we can show a relation between the coefficients of ABBA blocks and ABAB blocks as

$$(c_{AB}^{BA})_n = (-1)^n (c_{BA}^{BA})_n.$$
(1.7)

Therefore, it is straightforwardly shown that for ABAB blocks, the coefficients are given by

$$c_n \sim (-1)^n n^\alpha \mathrm{e}^{A\sqrt{n}} \quad \text{for } n \gg c$$
 (1.8)

and the values of A and α are given by the same expression as above.

Result (2):

The conformal blocks with general intermediate dimension h_p also have the simple asymptotic coefficients c_n well-fitted by (1.4) and we find a transition at $h_{A,B} = \frac{c}{32}$ again. And moreover the values of A and α of the coefficients c_n are not sensitive to h_p for large n. In other words, for any h_p , one can find one N such that

$$|c_n| \sim \begin{cases} n^{\alpha}, & \text{if } h_A, h_B > \frac{c}{32}, \\ n^{\alpha} e^{A\sqrt{n}} & (A > 0), & \text{otherwise}, \end{cases} \quad \text{for } n \gg N, c, \quad (1.9)$$

where A and α are independent of h_p . These features are shown in figure 3 (for AABB blocks) and figure 9 (for ABBA blocks). And actually we can suggest that this N is of order h_p from the form of the recursion relation (see section 3.2). For $n \gg h_p$, we have the naive estimation both for AABB and ABBA blocks as

1. In the heavy-heavy region $(h_A > \frac{c}{32} \text{ and } h_B > \frac{c}{32})$,

$$|c_n(h_p)| \sim \left(\frac{1}{h_p}\right)^{\text{const.}},$$
 (1.10)

2. In the region where any h_A and $h_B \ll \frac{c}{32}$,

$$|c_n(h_p)| \sim \begin{cases} \text{const.}, & \text{if } h_p \lesssim n, \\ \left(\frac{1}{h_p}\right)^{\text{const.}}, & \text{if } h_p \gtrsim n, \end{cases}$$
(1.11)

which are also based on the recursion relation.

Result (3):

As one of the applications of our results, the conformal bootstrap leads to the bound on the three point coefficients as

1. In the *heavy-heavy* region $(h_A > \frac{c}{32} \text{ and } h_B > \frac{c}{32})$,

$$\overline{C_{ABp}^2} \xrightarrow{\Delta_p \to \infty} 16^{-\Delta_p} e^{-2\pi \sqrt{\frac{c-1}{12} \left(\Delta_p - \frac{c-1}{12}\right)}}.$$
(1.12)

2. In the region where any h_A and $h_B \ll \frac{c}{32}$,

$$16^{-\Delta_{p}} e^{4\pi \sqrt{\left(\Delta_{B} - \frac{c-1}{12}\left(1 - \sqrt{1 - \frac{12}{c-1}}\Delta_{B}\right)\right)\left(\Delta_{p} - \frac{c-1}{12}\right)}} - 4\pi \sqrt{\frac{c-1}{12}\left(\Delta_{p} - \frac{c-1}{12}\right)}} \underset{\Delta_{p} \to \infty}{\leq} \frac{C_{ABp}^{2}}{C_{ABp}^{2}} \underset{\Delta_{p} \to \infty}{\leq} 16^{-\Delta_{p}} e^{-2\pi \sqrt{\frac{c-1}{12}\left(\Delta_{p} - \frac{c-1}{12}\right)}}.$$
(1.13)

Here the mean squared is over all primary operators of fixed dimension Δ_p .

Note that the exponential suppression in the upper bound can be characterized by the entropy $S(E) = 2\pi \sqrt{\frac{c}{3}E}$ as $e^{-\frac{1}{2}S(E)}$, which appears in the Cardy formula [36]. This exponential suppression also can be seen in the asymptotics of the heavy-heavy-heavy OPE coefficients [31],

$$\overline{C_{ABC}^2} \xrightarrow{\Delta_A = \Delta_B = \Delta_C = \Delta_p \to \infty} \left(\frac{16}{27}\right)^{-3\Delta_p} e^{-\frac{1}{2}3S(\Delta_p)}, \qquad (1.14)$$

which is given by the modular bootstrap for 0-point correlators on a 2-genus surface (see also [32, 33]). In addition, other universal formulas for OPE coefficients are also given by using the bootstrap approach for 1-point correlators on a torus [30] and 2-point correlators on a torus [37]. The result in [37] gives the heavy-heavy-light OPE coefficients as

$$\overline{C_{Apq}^2} \xrightarrow[]{\Delta_p = \Delta_q \to \infty} e^{-\frac{1}{2}2S(\Delta_p)}.$$
(1.15)

One can again see the exponential suppression characterized by the entropy in this form.⁴ Note also that this asymptotic behavior is different from the asymptotics for the OPE coefficients for any states [38] (see section C). It is natural because the above result (3) is the mean over only primary states (and also the normalization is different).

From our results, we can construct the asymptotic form of large c conformal blocks. When one considers the bootstrap equation for the correlator $\langle O_B(\infty)O_B(1)O_A(z)O_A(0)\rangle$, one has to know both AABB blocks and ABBA (correctly, not ABBA but BAAB) blocks. Our results suggest that both AABB and ABBA large c conformal blocks have simple form, therefore we expect that the conformal bootstrap in the holographic CFT can be solved by using our analysis or more information derived by the recursion relation in a similar way.

The outline of this paper is as follows. In section 2, we review the Zamolodchikov recursion relation, which is a key tool of our strategy. In section 3, we revisit AABB blocks with vacuum intermediate states and moreover we extend our analysis to blocks with general intermediate states. In section 4, we study ABBA blocks with light and heavy intermediate states. We extract the simple properties of ABBA blocks and find similar transition to AABB blocks. However, in some cases, we can not find simple formula for blocks with heavy intermediate states. Nevertheless, we manage to extract some properties of the blocks with heavy intermediate states in section 5. In section 6, we apply our results

⁴In [30], one can also find the asymptotics of the heavy-heavy-light OPE coefficients. However, the result given in [30] is taken a mean squared over all primary operators of fixed dimension Δ_p with A = B as microstates, which is different from (1.15).

in section 3, 4 to estimating the asymptotic form of conformal blocks in some limits. In section 7, we discuss correlators reproduced by our conformal blocks. In section 8, we comment on the future direction and application to the conformal bootstrap. We conclude with a discussion in section 9. In appendix A, we show some more detailed numerical data from the Zamolodchikov recursion relation. In appendix B, we compare our results with the semiclassical blocks and comment on the consistency and inconsistency between them. In appendix C, we derive the asymptotic heavy-light-light coefficients with arbitrary operators.

2 Recursion relations for conformal blocks

Conformal blocks appear in the decomposition of the correlators as follows,

$$\langle O_4(\infty)O_3(1)O_2(z,\bar{z})O_1(0)\rangle = \sum_p C_{12p}C_{34p}\mathcal{F}_{34}^{21}(h_p|z)\overline{\mathcal{F}_{34}^{21}}(\bar{h}_p|\bar{z})$$
(2.1)

where the sum is taken over primary operators in the CFT. Conformal blocks $\mathcal{F}_{34}^{21}(h_p|z)$ can be split into two factors as

$$\mathcal{F}_{34}^{21}(h_p|z) = \Lambda_{34}^{21}(h_p|q) H_{34}^{21}(h_p|q), \qquad q(z) = e^{-\pi \frac{K(1-z)}{K(z)}}$$
(2.2)

where the function $\Lambda^{21}_{34}(h_p|q)$ is a universal prefactor, which is given by

$$\Lambda_{34}^{21}(h_p|q) = (16q)^{h_p - \frac{c-1}{24}} z^{\frac{c-1}{24} - h_1 - h_2} (1-z)^{\frac{c-1}{24} - h_2 - h_3} (\theta_3(q))^{\frac{c-1}{2} - 4(h_1 + h_2 + h_3 + h_4)}$$
(2.3)

and the function $H_{34}^{21}(h_p|q)$ can be calculated recursively by using the following relation,

$$H_{34}^{21}(h_p|q) = 1 + \sum_{m=1,n=1}^{\infty} \frac{q^{mn} R_{m,n}}{h_p - h_{m,n}} H_{34}^{21}(h_{m,n} + mn|q)$$
(2.4)

where $h_{m,n}$ is the zero of Kac determinant, that is,

$$h_{m,n} = \frac{1}{4} \left(b + \frac{1}{b} \right)^2 - \lambda_{m,n}^2,$$

$$\lambda_{m,n} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{m}{b} + nb \right),$$
(2.5)

and

$$R_{m,n} = 2 \frac{\prod_{p,q} \left(\lambda_2 + \lambda_1 - \lambda_{p,q}\right) \left(\lambda_2 - \lambda_1 - \lambda_{p,q}\right) \left(\lambda_3 + \lambda_4 - \lambda_{p,q}\right) \left(\lambda_3 - \lambda_4 - \lambda_{p,q}\right)}{\prod_{k,l}' \lambda_{k,l}}.$$
 (2.6)

Here the integers p, q, k, l are defined as

$$p = -m + 1, -m + 3, \cdots, m - 3, m - 1,$$

$$q = -n + 1, -n + 3, \cdots, n - 3, n - 1,$$

$$k = -m + 1, -m + 2, \cdots, m,$$

$$l = -n + 1, -n + 2, \cdots, n.$$

(2.7)

The product $\prod_{k,l}'$ in (2.6) means that we exclude (k,l) = (0,0) and (m,n). We also defined

$$c = 1 + \left(b + \frac{1}{b}\right)^{2},$$

$$h_{i} = \frac{c - 1}{24} - \lambda_{i}^{2}.$$
(2.8)

In this paper, we consider a series expansion of the function $H_{34}^{21}(h_p|q)$ as

$$H_{34}^{21}(h_p|q) = 1 + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} c_k(h_p)q^k,$$
(2.9)

and focus on the series coefficients c_k . In the same way as (2.4), we can also calculate the coefficients $c_k(h_p)$ recursively by the following relation,

$$c_k(h_p) = \sum_{i=1}^k \sum_{\substack{m=1,n=1\\mn=i}} \frac{R_{m,n}}{h_p - h_{m,n}} c_{k-i}(h_{m,n} + mn)$$
(2.10)

where the sum is taken over $m, n = 1, 2, 3, \cdots$ with mn held fixed, i.e. the sum $\sum_{\substack{m=1,n=1\\mn=4}} mnn=4} mnnn$ means taking sum over (m, n) = (1, 4), (2, 2) and (4, 1). The coefficient $c_k(h_{m,n} + mn)$ can be also calculated recursively by

$$c_k(h_{m,n} + mn) = \sum_{i=1}^k \sum_{\substack{\mu=1,\nu=1\\ \mu\nu=i}} \frac{R_{\mu,\nu}}{h_{m,n} + mn - h_{\mu,\nu}} c_{k-i}(h_{\mu,\nu} + \mu\nu)$$
(2.11)

where the starting values of this recursion formula are $c_0(h_{m,n} + mn) = 1$.

Examples:

$$\begin{split} c_1(h_p) &= \frac{R_{1,1}}{h_p - h_{1,1}}, \\ c_2(h_p) &= \frac{R_{1,1}^2}{h_p - h_{1,1}} + \frac{R_{2,1}}{h_p - h_{2,1}} + \frac{R_{1,2}}{h_p - h_{1,2}}, \\ c_3(h_p) &= \frac{R_{1,1}}{h_p - h_{1,1}} \left(R_{1,1}^2 + \frac{R_{1,2}}{1 + h_{1,1} - h_{1,2}} + \frac{R_{2,1}}{1 + h_{1,1} - h_{2,1}} \right) \\ &\quad + \frac{R_{1,2}}{h_p - h_{1,2}} \frac{R_{1,1}}{2 - h_{1,1} + h_{1,2}} + \frac{R_{2,1}}{h_p - h_{2,1}} \frac{R_{1,1}}{2 - h_{1,1} + h_{2,1}} + \frac{R_{1,3}}{h_p - h_{1,3}} + \frac{R_{3,1}}{h_p - h_{3,1}}. \end{split}$$

In the end of this section, we would like to comment on an important property of the function $H(h_p|q)$ and its coefficients $c_k(h_p)$. From the expression of $R_{m,n}$, we find that $R_{m,n}$ is symmetric under the exchange $h_1h_2 \leftrightarrow h_3h_4$, which leads to the symmetry of $H(h_p|z)$ and its coefficients $c_k(h_p)$ under the exchange $h_1h_2 \leftrightarrow h_3h_4$, that is,

$$H_{34}^{21}(h_p|q) = H_{21}^{34}(h_p|q).$$
(2.12)

And also we can show from (2.6),

$$H_{34}^{21}(h_p|q) = H_{43}^{21}(h_p|-q), (2.13)$$

or equivalently,

$$(c_{34}^{21})_n = (-1)^n (c_{43}^{21})_n.$$
(2.14)

Now that we have conformal blocks written by elliptic nome q, which appears in a torus partition function,⁵ we can reinterpret the exchanging symmetry and the crossing symmetry of the correlators by using the language of modular invariance (see (8.3)).

Exchanging Symmetry \rightarrow Modular T Invariance Crossing Symmetry \rightarrow Modular S Invariance

And also note that this elliptic nome q(z) maps the universal cover of the sphere with punctures at $z = 0, 1, \infty$ to the interior of the unit q-disk, in that, |q| is always bounded by

|q| < 1. (2.15)

This fact can be understood in terms of the relation between the modulus τ in the pillow metric and z [40]. Thus the series expansion (2.9) in q is well-behaved and converges except for OPE singularities.

3 AABB blocks

In this section, we focus on the AABB blocks for the correlator $\langle O_B(\infty)O_B(1)O_A(z)O_A(0)\rangle$ in the $O_AO_A \rightarrow O_BO_B$ channel. First, we review our previous results on vacuum blocks from the recursion relation [23] and next, we generalize this analysis to blocks with non-zero intermediate dimensions.

Note that if setting $h_1 = h_2$ and $h_3 = h_4$ in (2.6), $R_{m,n}$ with odd mn always vanish and therefore we can obtain from (2.10) (see [23, 34, 35]),

$$c_k(h_p) = 0 \qquad \text{if } k \text{ is odd.} \tag{3.1}$$

This fact can shorten the processing time to calculate $H(h_p|q)$. That is why it is easier to study AABB blocks than ABBA blocks. In the following of this section, we implicitly assume c_n with odd n to be zero in all expressions.

3.1 AABB vacuum blocks

First, we review the properties of AABB vacuum blocks. By using the Zamolodchikov recursion relation, we suggest in [23] that the coefficients c_n for even n have the simple asymptotic form as⁶

$$|c_n| \sim \begin{cases} n^{\alpha}, & \text{if } h_A, h_B > \frac{c}{32}, \\ n^{\alpha} e^{A\sqrt{n}} & (A > 0), & \text{otherwise}, \end{cases} \quad \text{for } n \gg c, \tag{3.2}$$

⁵One can understand why the elliptic nome appears in the monodromy method [39] and in the pillow metric quantization [40].

⁶Somehow, (3.2) and (3.4) suggest that the coefficients c_n behave like Cardy's formula. This might be the key to access large c conformal blocks analytically.



Figure 1. The sketch of behaviors of $c_n = \operatorname{sgn}(c_n)n^{\alpha} e^{A\sqrt{n}}$ for various values of (h_A, h_B) .

where A, α and the signature of c_n are given in figure 1. This result implies that the behaviors of AABB blocks drastically change at $h_{A,B} = \frac{c}{32}$.⁷ In the heavy-light limit (the green regions in figure 1), we can estimate the values of A and α from our analysis based on the recursion relation as^8

$$A = \pi \sqrt{\frac{c-1}{24} - 2h_B}, \quad \alpha = 2(h_A + h_B) - \frac{c+5}{8} \quad \text{if} \quad h_A > \frac{c}{32} > h_B,$$

$$A = \pi \sqrt{\frac{c-1}{24} - 2h_A}, \quad \alpha = 2(h_A + h_B) - \frac{c+5}{8} \quad \text{if} \quad h_A < \frac{c}{32} < h_B.$$
(3.4)

These values are exactly given by the Heavy-Light Virasoro blocks [13, 14], which supports a validity of our statement.

 $^7\mathrm{The}$ value $\frac{c}{32}$ also appears in the analytic expression of c_n for small n as

$$c_{2m} \xrightarrow[c \to \infty]{} \frac{1}{m!} \left[\frac{c}{2} \left(1 - \frac{32}{c} h_A \right) \left(1 - \frac{32}{c} h_B \right) \right]^m \quad \text{for } 2m \ll c, \tag{3.3}$$

which suggests that the sign pattern of c_{2m} changes at $h_{A,B} = \frac{c}{32}$ as in figure 1. ⁸In [23], we define c_n as the coefficients of q^{2n} instead of q^n because of (3.1), but now we use the definition (2.9). Therefore, if one wants to convert the previous results in [23] to those in our new convention, one has to divide the previous value of A by $\sqrt{2}$.



Figure 2. The behaviors of the coefficients c_n of AABB blocks with $h_A = \frac{c}{24}$. The left is for $(h_B, h_p) = (\frac{c}{16}, \frac{c}{24} \times e^{\frac{5}{2}})$ and the right is for $(h_B, h_p) = (\frac{c}{240}, \frac{c}{24} \times e^{\frac{5}{2}})$. The blue dots are the numerical values of $\log c_n$. The red lines are $Bn^{\alpha}e^{A\sqrt{n}}$ with the constant *B* determined by the fit. We now set c = 30.01 and, to fit *A* and α , we use the numerical values of c_n at $n = 500 \sim 1000$.

In a part of *light-light* region (the blue region in figure 1), the values of A and α are expressed by

$$A = 2\pi \sqrt{\frac{c-1}{24} - h_A - h_B + \frac{c-1}{12} \left(1 - \sqrt{1 - \frac{24h_A}{c-1}}\right) \left(1 - \sqrt{1 - \frac{24h_B}{c-1}}\right)},$$

$$\alpha = 2(h_A + h_B) - \frac{c+5}{8}.$$
(3.5)

We derive this expression analytically in appendix B.2.

In the *heavy-heavy* region (the red region in figure 1), the values of A and α have a simple form,

$$A = 0,$$

$$\alpha = 4(h_A + h_B) - \frac{c+9}{4}.$$
(3.6)

3.2 AABB non-vacuum blocks

Let us move on to AABB non-vacuum blocks. In fact, the non-vacuum blocks show a similar behavior to that of the vacuum blocks, that is, the coefficients c_n are well-fitted by $n^{\alpha}e^{A\sqrt{n}}$ for large n as in figure 2. In particular, the values of A and α are independent of h_p . What we would like to emphasize here is that there is the transition at $h_{A,B} = \frac{c}{32}$ in the behavior of AABB blocks with not only vacuum but also non-vacuum intermediate states. These features can be seen in figure 3.

From the values of A and α for various values of (h_B, h_p) in figure 3, one can see the transition at $h_B = \frac{c}{32}$ obviously. This fact enhances our previous result for Renyi entropy [23] because the calculation of Renyi entropy in [23] relies on the vacuum block approximation of the correlator corresponding to the Renyi entropy. Thus the transition of the Renyi entropy can be seen at earlier times than the late time when we can approximate the correlator by the vacuum block.



Figure 3. The plots of the values of A (left) and α (right) for various values of (h_B, h_p) with $h_A = \frac{c}{24}$. Some strange behaviors near the line $h_B = \frac{c}{32}$ could be resolved by using the values c_n for higher n to fit A and α (see appendix A.1). Here we set c = 30.01 and to fit A and α , we use the numerical values of c_n at $n = 500 \sim 1000$.

Actually, we can also see the value $\frac{c}{32}$ analytically in the same way as (3.3). By using the Zamolodchikov recursion relation, one can see that the coefficients $c_n(h_p)$ for general h_p can be given by

$$c_{2m}(h_p) \xrightarrow[c \to \infty]{} \frac{1}{m!} \left[\frac{c}{2} \frac{\left(1 - \frac{32}{c}h_A\right) \left(1 - \frac{32}{c}h_B\right)}{\left(1 + \frac{8}{c}h_p\right)} \right]^m \quad \text{for } 2m \ll c.$$
(3.7)

From this observation as well as numerical supports, we can expect that the transition at $\frac{c}{32}$ of AABB blocks can be generalized to non-zero intermediate dimensions.

If one carefully observes the behaviors of c_n in the right of figure 3, one could find the values of α decrease with h_p . It can be seen more obviously in figure 4, which is one h_B slice of figure 3. Nevertheless, we do not think the values of α depend on h_p . In figure 4, blue dots are fitted by using c_n at more higher n than red dots. It suggests that the h_p dependence of α approaches a constant if one uses enough large n to fit α . This is the reason why we think the coefficients c_n for large n are independent of h_p . In other words, for any h_p , one can find one N such that

$$|c_n| \sim \begin{cases} n^{\alpha}, & \text{if } h_A, h_B > \frac{c}{32}, \\ n^{\alpha} e^{A\sqrt{n}} & (A > 0), & \text{otherwise}, \end{cases} \quad \text{for } n \gg N, c, \quad (3.8)$$

where A and α are independent of h_p and are given by figure 1.

How can we identify the value of N? Actually, we can suggest $N \sim h_p$ since one can see the coefficients $c_n(h_p)$ depend only on the difference $h_p - h_{m,n}$ from the expression of the coefficients c_n (2.10). As a result, our Cardy-like formula (3.2) for c_n could break down if $n \sim h_p$. It's also interesting to find the simple form of the coefficients c_n with $n \sim h_p$, however in this case, the coefficients c_n depend complicatedly on many parameters c, h_A, h_B, h_p, n and therefore we leave it as a future work. Nevertheless, we can extract few remarkable properties of c_n with $n \sim h_p$ and we will explain it later in section 5.



Figure 4. The h_p dependence of α . The left is for $(h_A, h_B) = (\frac{c}{24}, \frac{c}{240})$ and the right is for $(h_A, h_B) = (\frac{c}{24}, \frac{c}{16})$. Red dots are fitted by c_n for $n = 100 \sim 200$ and black dots are fitted by c_n for $n = 500 \sim 1000$. One can find that the h_p dependence of α approaches to constant as we use higher n to fit the values of α .

Consequently, we can argue that the AABB blocks in the limit $z \to 1$ is independent of intermediate dimensions due to the following reason. If one wants to reconstruct conformal blocks from the coefficients c_n , one has to take the sum

$$H_{LL}^{HH}(h_p|q) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} c_n q^n.$$
 (3.9)

If taking the limit $z \to 1$ which corresponds to the limit $q \to 1$, we can approximate the sum of c_n by that of the asymptotic form $n^{\alpha}e^{A\sqrt{n}}$ which is valid for large n, because the contributions from small n terms are much less than the other infinite contributions in the limit $q \to 1$. And c_n for large n is independent of h_p , which leads to the conclusion that the AABB blocks are independent of intermediate dimensions in the limit $z \to 1$. However, this scenario can be applied only to the case where $c_n > 0$ for any n. It happens in the *heavy-heavy* or *light-light* region $(h_A, h_B < \frac{c}{32} \text{ or } h_A, h_B > \frac{c}{32})$, which can be seen in figure 1. Note that even though c_n is not always positive, we can read off the upper bound of the singular behavior in the limit $z \to 1$ because

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} c_n q^n \le \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} |c_n| q^n, \qquad (0 < q < 1).$$
(3.10)

If the upper bound of the singular behavior is less than the singularity of the universal prefactor $\Lambda(h_p|q)$, then we can neglect the contribution of $H(h_p|q)$ to the singularity of the conformal block.

If one can find the limit of z corresponding to $q \to i$, the above scenario can also be applied to the blocks in the *heavy-light* region $(h_A < \frac{c}{32} \text{ and } h_B > \frac{c}{32}, \text{ or } h_A > \frac{c}{32} \text{ and}$ $h_B < \frac{c}{32}$) in such a limit. Actually we can take the limit $q \to i$ by taking the limit $z \to 0$ after picking up a monodromy around z = 1, that is, $1 - z \to e^{-2\pi i} (1 - z)$.

3.3 Comments on information loss

AdS/CFT shows that correlators decay exponentially at large time separation in a black hole background, which is known as one of the information loss problems. And this problem can be seen directly from semiclassical Virasoro blocks [13]. We expect that this problem can be resolved by taking account of a non-perturbative correction in central charge and summing over Virasoro blocks in the $O_A O_A$ OPE channel.

Recently, it is shown numerically that exact blocks behave like power law decay $t^{-\frac{3}{2}}$ [35]. It means that the non-perturbative correction to blocks ameliorates information loss. Actually, this polynomial decay can be derived from (3.6) by setting $h_A > \frac{c}{24} > h_B$ ($> \frac{c}{32}$). And moreover the result of section 3.2 explains that this polynomial decay can be seen in blocks with non-vacuum intermediate states.

Semiclassical conformal blocks also exhibit the information loss problem as *forbidden* singularities, which are singularities not corresponding to OPE singularities. This problem can be resolved by using exact conformal blocks as mentioned in [35], and the result of section 3.2 shows this resolution can be also applied to blocks with non-zero intermediate dimensions.

4 ABBA blocks

To solve the conformal bootstrap program, we have to know not only AABB blocks, but also ABBA blocks, hence we are also interested in the properties of ABBA blocks. In this section, we study ABBA blocks in the same approach as AABB blocks and reveal universal behaviors of ABBA blocks in large c CFTs.

The series expansion of conformal blocks in the elliptic nome q(z),

$$\mathcal{F}_{34}^{21}(h_p|z) = \Lambda(z) \sum_n c_n q^n,$$
(4.1)

can be seen naturally in the quantization on the pillow metric [40]. In particular, from a viewpoint of the pillow metric quantization, it can be shown that the coefficients c_n for ABBA blocks are all positive, which is very nontrivial from the recursion relation. Our analysis is consistent with this fact, in that, we have checked the fact that the coefficients of all ABBA blocks satisfy

$$(c_{BA}^{BA})_n > 0 \quad \text{for all } n, \tag{4.2}$$

by using the recursion relation numerically. Note that this fact holds only for ABBA blocks, not for AABB blocks and ABAB blocks. In fact, from (2.14), the coefficients for ABAB blocks are given by

$$\operatorname{sgn}[(c_{AB}^{BA})_n] = (-1)^n \quad \text{for all } n.$$
(4.3)

And the sign of the coefficients $(c_{BB}^{AA})_n$ are more non-trivial and illustrated in figure 1.

Is there any similar phenomenon for ABBA blocks as AABB blocks? Surprisingly, the same asymptotic behaviors as AABB blocks can be found for ABBA blocks. In more detail, we can see that there are only two patterns in the asymptotic behaviors of ABBA blocks:

- 1. $\log c_n$ shows a linear behavior for large n. (The upper left in figure 5)
- 2. $\log \log c_n$ shows a linear behavior for large n. (The lower right in figure 5)



Figure 5. The plots of c_n . The upper two plots are for $h_A = h_B = \frac{c}{8}$. We can see that the left of two shows a linear behavior, which suggest that c_n grows polynomially. The lower two plots are for $h_A = h_B = \frac{c}{240}$ and we can find a linear dependence in the right, which suggest that c_n grows exponentially.

Therefore, the asymptotic form of the coefficients c_n can be written by

$$c_n \sim n^{\alpha} \mathrm{e}^{An^{\beta}} \tag{4.4}$$

and moreover, there are universal properties for A and β as

which are the same properties as the coefficients of AABB blocks. It is obvious that the ABBA block with $h_A = h_B$ is exactly same as the AABB block with $h_A = h_B$, which implies that one can see the same behaviors of the coefficients c_n for ABBA and AABB along the line $h_A = h_B$ in figure 1, 7. Therefore, it is natural that the behaviors of c_n for ABBA blocks also drastically change at $h_{A,B} = \frac{c}{32}$.

4.1 ABBA blocks with light intermediate states

Using our numerical results, we can estimate the values of A and α in (4.4). First, we focus on the nearly vacuum blocks $\mathcal{F}_{BA}^{BA}(h_p \ll c|z)$. In such a case, the asymptotic coefficients (4.4) are insensitive to intermediate dimensions due to the following reason. The

intermediate dimension h_p appears only in the denominator of the recursion relation (2.10) as the difference $h_p - h_{m,n}$, and these zeros of the Kac determinant $h_{m,n}$ are of order c. It means that $h_p \ll h_{m,n}$ for all (m, n), (except for n = 1). As a result, we expect that the effect of $h_p \ll c$ to the blocks can be negligible.

Fitting the coefficients c_n into the asymptotic form $n^{\alpha} e^{A\sqrt{n}}$ leads to figure 6. From this observation, we can give the following expectations:

1. In the heavy-heavy region $(h_A > \frac{c}{32} \text{ and } h_B > \frac{c}{32})$, the coefficients c_n have the simple asymptotic form $(n \gg c)$ described by

$$A = 0,$$

$$\alpha = 4(h_A + h_B) - \frac{c+9}{4}.$$
(4.6)

2. In the region where any h_A and $h_B \ll c$, the asymptotic behavior of the coefficients $c_n \ (n \gg c)$ are determined by

$$A = 2\pi \sqrt{\frac{c-1}{24} - 4h_B + \frac{c-1}{6} \left(1 - \sqrt{1 - \frac{24}{c-1}h_B}\right)},$$

$$\alpha = 2(h_A + h_B) - \frac{c+5}{8}.$$
(4.7)

These properties of ABBA blocks are very similar to AABB blocks. The difference from AABB blocks is that the sign of the coefficients c_n and the value of A in this region.

In the end of this section, we summarize our results as in figure 7.

4.2 ABBA blocks with general intermediate states

The h_p dependence of ABBA blocks with general intermediate dimensions has the similar feature to that of AABB. First of all, the coefficients c_n are well-fitted by $n^{\alpha}e^{A\sqrt{n}}$ for large n as in figure 8. We find that the behavior of the coefficients c_n of general ABBA blocks also exhibits the asymptotic form (4.4). Figure 9 shows the values of A and α fitted by (4.4) for various values of (h_B, h_p) with $h_A = \frac{c}{24}$. One can see that the behaviors of A and α drastically change at $h_{A,B} = \frac{c}{32}$ also for higher intermediate dimensions.

From the left of figure 9, we can see that the values of A are independent of h_p and thus the transition at $h_B = \frac{c}{32}$ continues to general h_p . And also we can see that the values of α do not depend on h_p in the right of figure 9. When looking at one h_B slice more carefully in figure 10, the values of α seem to be decreasing with h_p . However, we think that this is due to the same reason as in section 3.2 because we can also see in figure 10 that the less decreasing of α with h_p we can see, the higher n we use to fit α . Therefore, we conclude that the ABBA blocks are also insensitive to the intermediate dimensions h_p in the limit $z \to 1$ in a similar way as the AABB block.

Note that, as we explained in section 3.2, our Cardy-like formura for the coefficients $c_n(h_p)$ could break down also for ABBA blocks if $n \sim h_p$. We can not find some simple formula for c_n with $n \sim h_p$ in this paper. We will, though, exhibit some features of c_n with $n \sim h_p$ in the next section 5.



Figure 6. The plots of the values of A (upper) and α (lower) for various values of (h_A, h_B) . The ranges are $0 < h_A, h_B < \frac{c}{8}$. The black dots are the numerical values of A and α . The red surface describes (4.6) and the blue surfaces describes (4.7). Some strange behaviors near the lines $h_{A,B} = \frac{c}{32}$ could be resolved by using the values c_n for higher n to fit A and α (see appendix A.1). Here we set c = 30.01 and use the values of c_n up to of n = 1000 to fit A and α .



Figure 7. The sketch of behaviors of $c_n \sim \operatorname{sgn}(c_n) n^{\alpha} e^{A\sqrt{n}}$ for various values of (h_A, h_B) .



Figure 8. The behaviors of the coefficients c_n of ABBA blocks with $h_A = \frac{c}{24}$. The left is for $(h_B, h_p) = (\frac{c}{16}, \frac{c}{24} \times e^{\frac{5}{2}})$ and the right is for $(h_B, h_p) = (\frac{c}{240}, \frac{c}{24} \times e^{\frac{5}{2}})$. The blue dots are the numerical values of $\log c_n$. The red lines are $Bn^{\alpha}e^{A\sqrt{n}}$ with the constant *B* determined by the fit. We now set c = 30.01 and to fit *A* and α , we use the numerical values of c_n at $n = 500 \sim 1000$.

5 Conformal blocks with very heavy intermediate states

In this section, we study the h_p dependence of the coefficients $c_n(h_p)$ with $n \sim h_p$. Before stating our results, we explain the motivation for it. It is known that the large c conformal blocks with very heavy intermediate states $(h_p \gg h_i, c)$ can be derived by the monodromy method [5, 6, 39] and will be briefly explained in section 5.2. This block is given by

$$\mathcal{F}_{34}^{21}(h_p|z) = \Lambda_{34}^{21}(h_p|q), \qquad q(z) = e^{-\pi \frac{K(1-z)}{K(z)}}, \tag{5.1}$$



Figure 9. The plots of the values of A (left) and α (right) for various values of (h_B, h_p) with $h_A = \frac{c}{24}$. Some strange behaviors near the line $h_B = \frac{c}{32}$ could be resolved by using the values c_n for higher n to fit A and α . Here we set c = 30.01 and to fit A and α , we use the numerical values of c_n at $n = 500 \sim 1000$.



Figure 10. The h_p dependence of α . The left is for $(h_A, h_B) = (\frac{c}{24}, \frac{c}{240})$ and the right is for $(h_A, h_B) = (\frac{c}{24}, \frac{c}{16})$. Red dots are fitted by c_n for $n = 100 \sim 200$ and Black dots are fitted by c_n for $n = 500 \sim 1000$. One can find that the h_p dependence of α approaches to constant as we use higher n to fit the values of α .

where the function $\Lambda_{34}^{21}(h_p|q)$ is

$$\Lambda_{34}^{21}(h_p|q) = (16q)^{h_p - \frac{c-1}{24}} z^{\frac{c-1}{24} - h_1 - h_2} (1-z)^{\frac{c-1}{24} - h_2 - h_3} (\theta_3(q))^{\frac{c-1}{2} - 4(h_1 + h_2 + h_3 + h_4)}.$$
 (5.2)

This means that the function $H(h_p|q)$ has the following asymptotic form,

$$H(h_p|q) \xrightarrow[h_p \to \infty]{} 1.$$
(5.3)

Here, attention should be given to the fact that in the process of this approximation, the kinematic configuration is held fixed. If one would try to estimate correlators by using the saddle point approximation, the dependence on the kinematic configuration is important since the saddle points h_{p^*} of the sum over intermediate states relate the kinematic configuration.

Example:

If the correlator in the limit $z, \overline{z} \to 1$ is dominated by only one saddle point, we can approximate the sum as

$$\sum_{p} C_{12p} C_{34p} \mathcal{F}_{34}^{21}(h_p|z) \overline{\mathcal{F}_{34}^{21}}(\bar{h}_p|\bar{z}) \xrightarrow[z,\bar{z}\to 1]{} C_{12p^*} C_{34p^*} \mathcal{F}_{34}^{21}(h_{p^*}|z) \overline{\mathcal{F}_{34}^{21}}(\bar{h}_{p^*}|\bar{z}),$$
(5.4)

where h_{p^*} depends on the kinematic configuration, $h_{p^*} = h_{p^*}(z)$.

Therefore, the approximation (5.3) under the fixed kinematics might be invalid. To be more explicit, we need to know the h_p dependence of $c_n(h_p)$ not only for large $n \gg h_p$ but also for $n \sim h_p$ (see also section 7.1). In fact, if one wants to estimate the asymptotic behavior of correlators from the knowledge of conformal blocks, one needs to know how $c_n(h_p)$ depends on h_p . That's the motivation.

5.1 Numerical results for very heavy intermediate states

As mentioned in section 3 and 4, for very heavy intermediate dimensions $h_p \sim n \gg c$, we can't describe the coefficients c_n as a simple form. Nevertheless, we can find out few qualitative features for c_n by directly observing the dependence of $c_n(h_p)$ with fixed n. Before the observation, we compare the n dependence of $c_n(h_p)$ with various h_p . Figure 11 shows the behaviors of the coefficients c_n of AABB and ABBA blocks for various intermediate dimensions h_p . From this figure, we can expect that the coefficients $|c_n(h_p)|$ are monotonically increasing with h_p in some sense. Moreover, we can expect that

$$|c_n(h_p)| \ge |c_n(h'_p)| \quad \text{if } h_p \le h'_p, \tag{5.5}$$

for at least higher *n*. In fact, we find out the counterexample to (5.5) in a special case. If one considers AABB blocks with $h_A \sim h_B \sim \frac{c}{32}$, one can see the counterexample. Nevertheless, when the external dimensions are apart from the vicinity of $(h_A, h_B) = (\frac{c}{32}, \frac{c}{32})$, the block satisfies the inequality (5.5) for any integer *n*. And at least, we can observe in general

$$|c_n(h_p \ll c)| \ge \left|c_n(h'_p \ll c)\right|. \tag{5.6}$$

To read off the h_p dependence of the coefficients $c_n(h_p)$, we calculate $c_n(h_p)$ for various h_p with fixed n. Here we showed only few our numerical plots and we tried not to disturb readers by too many figures. However in fact most of our plots exhibit similar properties and therefore one can see our conclusion from them. If one wants to confirm our conclusion by more examples, one can see other examples in appendix A.2. Figure 12 shows the h_p dependence of $c_n(h_p)$ with fixed n = 10 and 1000 for AABB blocks. The upper two figures are for $(h_A, h_B) = (\frac{c}{24}, \frac{c}{240})$, which is in the *heavy-light* region. These figures suggest that the h_p dependence of $\log |c_n(h_p)|$ shows the steep slope from $h_p \sim n$. In other words, the coefficients $|c_n(h_p)|$ behave like

in the *heavy-light* region,

$$|c_n(h_p)| \sim \begin{cases} \text{const.} , & \text{if } h_p \lesssim n, \\ \left(\frac{1}{h_p}\right)^{\text{const.}} , & \text{if } h_p \gtrsim n. \end{cases}$$
(5.7)



Figure 11. These figures show the behaviors of the coefficients c_n of AABB (upper) and ABBA (lower) blocks simultaneously for various intermediate dimensions h_p . The left is for $(h_A, h_B) = (\frac{c}{24}, \frac{c}{240})$ and the right is for $(h_A, h_B) = (\frac{c}{24}, \frac{c}{16})$.

This is just a rough estimate, but in fact, in the upper left of figure 12, n = 10 is very small, thus most of h_p satisfies $h_p \gtrsim n$ and therefore the h_p dependence of c_n is dominated by $(h_p)^{\text{const.}}$ for most values of h_p . And in the upper right of figure 12, the h_p dependence of c_n with n = 1000 shows gentle slope for $h_p \lesssim 1000$ and steep slope for $h_p \gtrsim 1000$. From these observation, we expect that the coefficients of $c_n(h_p)$ show the behavior as (5.7). We can see more clearly from figure 21 in appendix A.2 that the transition point from a gentle slope to a steep slope is controlled by n. On the other hand, in the *heavy-heavy* region, we find more simple properties of $c_n(h_p)$. The lower two figures are for $(h_A, h_B) = (\frac{c}{24}, \frac{c}{16})$, which is in the *heavy-heavy* region. In this case, we can't see the transition from a gentle slope to a steep slope at $h_p \sim n$ and moreover the h_p dependence of $\log |c_n|$ is clearly linear. Therefore, the statement is more probable in the *heavy-heavy* region than in the *heavy-light* region. From the above observation, we can suggest that for any h_p ,

in the heavy-heavy region,

$$|c_n(h_p)| \sim \left(\frac{1}{h_p}\right)^{\gamma(n)},$$
(5.8)

where $\gamma(n)$ is some constant for h_p . Actually the same relations as (5.7) and (5.8) are satisfied for ABBA blocks (see appendix A.2). This is one of main results in this paper. We must be able to extract this properties from the recursion relation analytically, which we leave for future work. And also it's important future work to explicitly identify $c_n(h_p)$ as the function of c, h_A, h_B, h_p, n with the aim of the motivation mentioned at the beginning of this section.



Figure 12. The h_p dependence of $c_n(h_p)$ with fixed n = 10 (left) and 1000 (right) for AABB blocks. The upper two figures are for $(h_A, h_B) = (\frac{c}{24}, \frac{c}{240})$, which is in the *heavy-light* region. The lower two figures are for $(h_A, h_B) = (\frac{c}{24}, \frac{c}{16})$, which is in the *heavy-heavy* region.

Note that we can find that the power $\gamma(n)$ depends on n, however the growth of $\gamma(n)$ with n is slower and slower as n approaches infinity as in figure 13. This means that

$$|c_n(h_p)| \sim \left(\frac{1}{h_p}\right)^{\gamma}$$
 for large n , (5.9)

where γ is some constant for h_p and n. Therefore, for large n, the coefficients $c_n(h_p)$ can be split into two factors as

$$c_n(h_p) \sim P(h_p)Q(n), \tag{5.10}$$

where $P(h_p)$ depends only on h_p and Q(n) depends only on n. This is consistent with our conjecture (3.8), which states that the asymptotic behavior of the coefficients c_n for large n is independent of h_p up to a constant factor. (Recall that our definition of "~" is the approximation up to a constant factor.) In other words, the function Q(n) can be given by our Cardy-like formula for large n.

5.2 Validity of large *h* asymptotics

In the beginning of the section, we mentioned that if one considers the kinematics of the asymptotic blocks, one has to take care of the regime of validity of the approximation. Actually, we can identify the regime of validity of the approximation (5.3) as

$$h_p |\log q|^2 \gg c,\tag{5.11}$$



Figure 13. The *n* dependence of $\gamma(n)$ for AABB blocks, which is the power of (5.8). We can see that the growth of $\gamma(n)$ with *n* is slower and slower as *n* approaches infinity.

where $h_p \to \infty$ and $q \to 1$. If the saddle point h_p in the limit $q \to 1$ of the correlator satisfies (5.11), then we can use the asymptotics,

$$H(h_p|q) \xrightarrow[h_p \to \infty]{} 1.$$
(5.12)

We will explain it in this subsection.

In this paper, we are interested in the holographic CFTs, therefore we restrict us to large c CFTs. If the asymptotics (5.12) is valid, it means that the monodromy method [5, 6, 39] can be justified. The monodromy method is the method to derive the semiclassical conformal blocks as follows:

1. Null ODE

The degenerate primary operator Ψ with the dimension $-\frac{1}{2} - \frac{3}{4}b^2$ leads to the ODE,

$$\left[\frac{1}{b^2}\partial_z^2 + \sum_{i=1}^4 \left(\frac{h_i}{(z-z_i)^2} + \frac{1}{z-z_i}\partial_i\right)\right] \langle \mathcal{O}_4(z_4, \bar{z}_4)\mathcal{O}_3(z_3, \bar{z}_3)\Psi(z, \bar{z})\mathcal{O}_2(z_2, \bar{z}_2)\mathcal{O}_1(z_1, \bar{z}_1)\rangle = 0.$$
(5.13)

2. ODE for each intermediate states

Under some appropriate assumptions for large c CFTs, the ODE (5.13) leads to a ODE for each intermediate states \mathcal{O}_p in the OPE $\mathcal{O}_1\mathcal{O}_2$ as

$$\left[\partial_z^2 + \sum_{i=1}^4 \left(\frac{\delta_i}{(z-z_i)^2} - \frac{C_i}{z-z_i}\right)\right] \Psi_p = 0,$$
 (5.14)

where $\delta_i = b^2 h_i$ and

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_4 \mathcal{O}_3 \Psi \mathcal{O}_p \rangle \equiv \Psi_p(z, \bar{z}; z_i, \bar{z}_i) \langle \mathcal{O}_4 \mathcal{O}_3 \mathcal{O}_p \rangle.$$
(5.15)

At this stage, we can not determine C_i , which are called as *accessory parameters*. This parameter is related to the conformal block as

$$C_2 = \partial_x f_{cl}, \tag{5.16}$$

where

$$\mathcal{F}_{34}^{21}(h_p|x) \sim e^{-\frac{c}{6}f_{cl}}.$$
 (5.17)

3. Ward-Takahashi identity

The second term of (5.14) is can be understood as b^2 times the semiclassical expectation value of the stress tensor from the Ward-Takahashi identity. This fact leads to the following ODE,

$$\left[\partial_z^2 + \frac{\delta_1}{z^2} + \frac{\delta_2}{(z-x)^2} + \frac{\delta_3}{(1-z)^2} + \frac{\delta_1 + \delta_2 + \delta_3 - \delta_4}{z(1-z)} - \frac{C_2 x(1-x)}{z(z-x)(1-z)}\right]\Psi_p = 0.$$
(5.18)

4. WKB approximation

By using the WKB approximation in the limit $\delta_p \to \infty$, we can solve the ODE (5.18),

$$\Psi_p \sim \exp\left[\pm\sqrt{x(1-x)C_2} \int_{z_0}^z \frac{dz'}{\sqrt{z'(1-z')(z'-x)}}\right].$$
 (5.19)

5. Monodromy equation

From the usual CFT discussion for degenerate operators, we know the OPE between \mathcal{O}_p and Ψ and therefore it is shown that the monodromy of Ψ_p aroud \mathcal{O}_p can be given by

$$(z-z_1)^{\frac{1}{2}\left(1\pm\sqrt{1-4b^2h_p}\right)}.$$
(5.20)

Hence, the solution (5.19) needs to have the above monodromy. This fact leads to the condition,

$$C_2 \simeq -\frac{\pi^2 b^2 h_p}{x(1-x)K(x)^2}.$$
(5.21)

6. Semiclassical conformal block

We have the relation

$$C_2 = \partial_x f_{cl}, \tag{5.22}$$

and therefore we can obtain the conformal block as

$$\mathcal{F}_{34}^{21}(h_p|z) = (16q)^{h_p}, \qquad (5.23)$$

and the next order leads to the semiclassical block (5.1). This method is called as *monodromy method*.

As above, this method relies on the WKB approximation and therefore we have to take care of the regime of validity of this approximation. This regime is given by

$$\frac{1}{\lambda} \left| \phi'^2 \right| \gg \left| \phi'' \right|, \tag{5.24}$$

or

$$\lambda \left| \frac{d}{dz} \frac{1}{\phi'} \right| \ll 1, \tag{5.25}$$

where we define $\Psi_p \equiv e^{\frac{1}{\lambda}\phi}$ and $h_p \equiv b^2 \frac{\eta_p}{\lambda}$, which are the usual convention for the WKB method. From (5.18) and (5.21), the leading order of ϕ' is given by

$$\phi' \simeq \sqrt{-\frac{\lambda^2 \pi^2 b^2 h_p}{K(x)^2 z(z-x)(1-z)}}.$$
 (5.26)

As a result, we get the regime of validity as

$$\frac{h_p}{\left|K(x)\right|^2} \gg c. \tag{5.27}$$

In the limit $x \to 1$, we have the following asymptotics,

$$K(x) \sim \log(1-x) \sim \frac{1}{\log q(x)}.$$
 (5.28)

Therefore, we can reexpress (5.27) as

$$h_p \left| \log q \right|^2 \gg c. \tag{5.29}$$

This is the regime of validity of the WKB approximation. In other words, the WKB solution $H(h_p|q) = 1$ is valid only if $h_p |\log q|^2 \gg c$. Here, we don't claim that the lack of the condition (5.29) immediately leads to the breakdown of the asymptotic behavior (5.12). It is just the breakdown of the WKB approximation, but it serves as a criterion of the breakdown, except for special cases.

In one of special cases, the solution from the WKB approximation is an exact solution to the ODE (5.18) [41]. For example, if setting $\delta_{1,2,3,4} = \frac{3}{16}$ (corresponding to $h_{1,2,3,4} = \frac{c}{32}$), then the ODE is solved by

$$\Psi_p^{(\pm)}(z) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{t'(z)}} e^{\pm ikt(z)}, \quad \text{with } t'(z) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{z(z-x)(z-1)}}, \quad (5.30)$$

where $C_2 = \frac{1-2x+8k^2}{8x(1-x)}$. The monodromy condition leads to

$$C_2 = \frac{1 - 2x}{8x(1 - x)} + \frac{\pi^2 \alpha^2}{16x(1 - x)K(x)^2}$$
(5.31)

where $\alpha = \sqrt{1 - 4\delta_p}$. This gives the conformal block as⁹

$$\mathcal{F}_{\frac{c}{32},\frac{c}{32}}^{\frac{c}{32},\frac{c}{32}}(h_p|q) \sim (16q)^{h_p - \frac{c}{24}} \left(z(1-z)\right)^{-\frac{c}{48}}.$$
(5.33)

⁹In large c, we can identify this conformal block with a character [31, 42],

$$\mathcal{F}^{\frac{c}{32},\frac{c}{32}}_{\frac{c}{32},\frac{c}{32}}(h_p|q) \sim (z(1-z))^{-\frac{c}{48}} \chi_{\frac{h_p}{2},\frac{c}{2}}(\tau).$$
(5.32)

We think that this relation relies on the fact that the value $\frac{c}{32}$ is the dimension of a twist-2 operator and a 4-pt. function of twist-2 operators is equivalent to a torus partition function.

This block is valid beyond the regime of validity of the WKB approximation.¹⁰ Other methods beyond the WKB approximation are discussed in [16, 31].

6 The asymptotic form of conformal blocks

In this section, we estimate the simple form of the function $H(h_p|q)$ for real q away from the origin q = 0. (The function $H(h_p|q)$ in the limit $q \to 0$ is trivial and not interesting.) In order to extract the simple form of $H(h_p|q)$, we approximate the summation

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} n^{\alpha} \mathrm{e}^{A\sqrt{n}} q^n \tag{6.1}$$

by an integral, which is valid for $0 \ll q < 1$.

6.1 HLLH and LHHL blocks

Now that we have shown the simple asymptotic proprieties of the coefficients c_n in the heavy-light limit, one might try to reconstruct conformal blocks. In this subsection, we focus on the ABBA block with external dimensions $h_1 = h_4 = h_A$ and $h_2 = h_3 = h_B$ because it has positive coefficients and therefore we can estimate the block easily in the following. Note that, fortunately, especially in the heavy-light limit, it can be seen that the asymptotic form (4.7) also holds for small n (see appendix A) and therefore the approximation by substituting our asymptotic form into (6.1) is good especially in this case. We can estimate the function H(h|q) in the limit $z = 1 - \epsilon$ ($\epsilon \ll 1$) as

$$H(h_p|q) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} n^{\alpha} e^{A\sqrt{n}} q^n \xrightarrow[\epsilon \to 0]{} (\log \epsilon)^{2\alpha + \frac{3}{2}} e^{-\frac{A^2}{4\pi^2}}$$
(6.2)

where we use the following asymptotic behavior of the elliptic nome q,

$$q(z) = e^{-\pi \frac{K(1-z)}{K(z)}} \xrightarrow[\epsilon \to 0]{} e^{-\frac{\pi^2}{\log(16/\epsilon)}}.$$
(6.3)

and the LHHL conformal blocks have the following asymptotic behavior,

$$\log \mathcal{F}_{HL}^{HL}(h_p|z) \xrightarrow[z \to 1]{} \left(4h_L - 2h_H - \frac{c-1}{6} \left(1 - \sqrt{1 - \frac{24}{c-1}} h_L \right) \right) \log(1-z) + o(\log\log(1-z)).$$

$$(6.4)$$

On the other hand, in the same way, we can obtain the asymptotic behavior of HLLH blocks as

$$\log \mathcal{F}_{LH}^{LH}(h_p|z) \xrightarrow[z \to 1]{} \left(2h_L - \frac{c-1}{6} \left(1 - \sqrt{1 - \frac{24}{c-1}} h_L \right) \right) \log(1-z) + o(\log\log(1-z)). \quad (6.5)$$

¹⁰This might be relevant to the fact that the leading term of the coefficients c_n (3.7) vanishes when h_A or $h_B = \frac{c}{32}$.

6.2 HLHL and LHLH blocks

For ABAB blocks, the sign of coefficients c_n oscillates and therefore we can not approximate the blocks by the same method as in section 6.1 (see also appendix B.1). Nevertheless, we have the inequality,

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} c_n q^n \le \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} |c_n| q^n, \qquad (0 < q < 1).$$
(6.6)

By combining this inequality, the results in section 6.1 and the equation (2.14), we get

$$\log \mathcal{F}_{HL}^{LH}(h_p|z) \leq \left(3h_L - h_H - \frac{c-1}{6}\left(1 - \sqrt{1 - \frac{24}{c-1}h_L}\right)\right)\log(1-z), \quad (6.7)$$

and we can obtain the same result for LHLH block. Here, we mean by the symbol " $\leq z \to 1$ " that an inequality holds only if $z \to 1$.

As mentioned in the last of section 3.2, we can take the limit $q \to i$ by picking up the monodromy at z = 1 and taking the limit $z \to 0$ (in section 7.2, we will explain when this limit appears in more detail.). In the similar way, we can find the limit of z corresponding to the limit $q \to -1$. In fact, we can take the limit $q \to -1$ by taking the limit $z \to \infty$ as

$$q(z) = e^{-\pi \frac{K(1-z)}{K(z)}} \xrightarrow[z=\frac{1}{\epsilon} \to \infty]{} - e^{-\frac{\pi^2}{\log(16/\epsilon)}}.$$
(6.8)

In this limit, the block is given by

$$\log \mathcal{F}_{HL}^{LH}(h_p|z) \xrightarrow[z \to \infty]{} \left(4h_L - \frac{c-1}{6} \left(1 - \sqrt{1 - \frac{24}{c-1}} h_L \right) \right) \log\left(\frac{1}{z}\right) + o\left(\log \log\left(\frac{1}{z}\right) \right),$$

$$(6.9)$$

where we used the following property of the Jacobi theta function,

$$\theta_3(q(z)) \xrightarrow[z=\frac{1}{\epsilon} \to \infty]{} 2\sqrt{\frac{\log \frac{16}{\epsilon}}{\pi}} \left(\frac{\epsilon}{16}\right)^{\frac{1}{4}}.$$
(6.10)

In the same way, we can show that the LHLH block is given by the same expression.

6.3 HHHH blocks

In this subsection, we study the asymptotics of ABBA blocks in the *heavy-heavy* region, which we call as $H_A H_B H_B H_A$ block. The expressions (4.6) for A and α in the *heavy-heavy* region lead to

$$H_{BA}^{BA}(h_p|q) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} n^{\alpha} q^n \xrightarrow[\epsilon \to 0]{} (\log \epsilon)^{4(h_A + h_B) - \frac{c+5}{4}}$$
(6.11)

where $z = 1 - \epsilon$ ($\epsilon \ll 1$). Here we use the asymptotic behavior of the Polylogarithm,

$$\operatorname{Li}_{-\alpha}(\mathrm{e}^{-\pi\tau}) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n^{\alpha} \mathrm{e}^{-\pi\tau n} \xrightarrow[\tau \to 0]{} \frac{\Gamma(\alpha+1)}{(\pi\tau)^{\alpha+1}} \quad \text{if } \alpha > -1, \tag{6.12}$$

and we assumed $\alpha > -1$. In fact, almost all values (h_A, h_B) in the *heavy-heavy* region satisfy $\alpha = 4(h_A + h_B) - \frac{c+9}{4} > -1$, however somehow there is a region where $\alpha > -1$ is not satisfied. It suggests that the exact transition point might be $h_{A,B} = \frac{c}{32} + O(c^0)$. Note that somehow, this asymptotic form exactly matches $H_{BB}^{AA}(h_p|q)$, which is the function $H(h_p|q)$ of AABB blocks.

This H_{BA}^{BA} function leads to the asymptotic form of conformal blocks in the *heavy-heavy* region $(h_{A,B} > \frac{c}{32})$ as

$$\log \mathcal{F}_{BA}^{BA}(h_p|z) \xrightarrow[z \to 1]{} \left(\frac{c-1}{24} - 2h_B\right) \log\left(1-z\right) - \frac{3}{2} \log\log\left(1-z\right) + o\left(\log\log(1-z)\right), \quad (6.13)$$

which is surprisingly simple. It means that it might be possible to derive this result analytically in some way. But we leave this problem to future work. And for now, we do not have the clear holographic dual description of ABBA blocks, however this simple form also suggests that the $H_A H_B H_B H_A$ blocks could have some classical description in gravity side.

As we mentioned, the function $H_{BB}^{AA}(h_p|q)$ shows the same behavior as $H_{BA}^{BA}(h_p|q)$ in the *heavy-heavy* region. Therefore, the $H_A H_A H_B H_B$ block is also given by

$$\log \mathcal{F}_{BB}^{AA}(h_p|z) \xrightarrow[z \to 1]{} \left(\frac{c-1}{24} - h_A - h_B \right) \log (1-z) - \frac{3}{2} \log \log (1-z) + o(\log \log (1-z)).$$
(6.14)

We can see the power $\frac{3}{2}$, which is due to the same reason as that the power law $t^{-\frac{3}{2}}$ appears in the late time behavior of Virasoro blocks [35]. To probe information loss, one needs to consider the analytic continuation of the correlator [35, 43]. In more detail, we have to consider the conformal blocks undergoing a monodromy around z = 1, whose behaviors are different from the original conformal blocks. This leads to the power law $t^{-\frac{3}{2}}$ for $H_AH_AH_BH_B$ blocks at late times.

For $H_A H_B H_A H_B$ blocks, we can obtain the bound form (6.13) as

$$\log \mathcal{F}_{AB}^{BA}(h_p|z) \leq \frac{(c-1)}{24} - h_A - h_B \log(1-z) - \frac{3}{2}\log\log(1-z) + o(\log\log(1-z)),$$
(6.15)

and the asymptotic form as

$$\log \mathcal{F}_{AB}^{BA}(h_p|z) \xrightarrow[z \to \infty]{} \frac{c-1}{24} \log\left(\frac{1}{z}\right) - \frac{3}{2} \log\log\left(\frac{1}{z}\right) + o\left(\log\log\left(\frac{1}{z}\right)\right).$$
(6.16)

7 Correlator, OTOC and Entanglement Entropy from conformal blocks

7.1 Asymptotic correlators

Now that we give the asymptotic form of conformal blocks with vacuum and non-vacuum intermediate states, one might try to extract the properties of correlators from our conformal blocks. However, one could be confronted with the following problem. To construct correlators, one has to take the sum of conformal blocks over intermediate dimensions as

$$\langle O_A(\infty)O_B(1)O_B(z)O_A(0)\rangle = \sum_{h_p=0}^{\infty}\sum_{\bar{h}_p=0}^{\infty}\rho_{h_p,\bar{h}_p} \left(C_{ABp}\right)^2 \mathcal{F}_{BA}^{BA}(h_p|z)\overline{\mathcal{F}_{BA}^{BA}}(\bar{h}_p|\bar{z})$$
(7.1)

where ρ_{h_p,\bar{h}_p} is the density of primary states. Once we take z near the singular point z = 1, we can approximate it as the sum of effective contributions as

$$\langle O_A(\infty)O_B(1)O_B(z)O_A(0)\rangle \simeq \sum_{h_p=0}^{h_{p^*}} \sum_{\bar{h}_p=0}^{\bar{h}_{p^*}} \rho_{h_p,\bar{h}_p} \left(C_{ABp}\right)^2 \mathcal{F}_{BA}^{BA}(h_p|z)\overline{\mathcal{F}_{BA}^{BA}}(\bar{h}_p|\bar{z}),$$
(7.2)

where p^* depends on $z = 1 - \epsilon$ ($\epsilon \ll 1$) and

$$\frac{\sum_{h_p=h_{p^*}}^{\infty} \sum_{\bar{h}_p=\bar{h}_{p^*}}^{\infty} \rho_{h_p,\bar{h}_p} \left(C_{ABp}\right)^2 \mathcal{F}_{BA}^{BA}(h_p|z) \overline{\mathcal{F}_{BA}^{BA}(\bar{h}_p|\bar{z})}}{\sum_{h_p=0}^{\infty} \sum_{\bar{h}_p=0}^{\infty} \rho_{h_p,\bar{h}_p} \left(C_{ABp}\right)^2 \mathcal{F}_{BA}^{BA}(h_p|z) \overline{\mathcal{F}_{BA}^{BA}(\bar{h}_p|\bar{z})}} \ll 1.$$
(7.3)

And in the same way, we can also define n^* for the sum,

$$H(h_p|q) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} c_n(h_p)q^n,$$
(7.4)

as

$$\frac{\sum_{n=0}^{n^*} c_n(h_p) q^n}{\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} c_n(h_p) q^n} \ll 1,$$
(7.5)

(or when there exists only one saddle point of the summation, one can think of n^* as the saddle point of the summation (7.4) and h_{p^*} as the saddle point of the summation (7.1). In other words, the point (n^*, h_{p^*}) is the saddle point of the double sum over n and h_p .)

Recall that the coefficients c_n are given by (2.10) as

$$c_k(h_p) = \sum_{i=1}^k \sum_{\substack{m=1,n=1\\mn=i}} \frac{R_{m,n}}{h_p - h_{m,n}} c_{k-i}(h_{m,n} + mn).$$
(7.6)

From this expression, one can find that the asymptotic form (6.13) breaks down as k approaches to the order h_p . Therefore, we expect that the asymptotic form (6.13) of c_n holds only for $n \gg h_p$. In other words, if one wants to approximate the conformal block by using our asymptotic c_n , the condition $n^* \gg h_p$ has to be satisfied. However, it might be possible that there are conformal blocks with $h_p \sim n^*$ in the conformal block decomposition of the correlator, that is, $h_{p^*} \sim n^*$. As a result, the behavior of the correlator might be different from that of the conformal block. This story is illustrated in figure 14 and it is simplified when there exists only one saddle point as explained in figure 15.

To derive the asymptotic behavior of the correlator from the conformal blocks, one has to understand the behavior of the coefficients c_n for $n \sim h_p$. Or, possibly, one can show that $n^* \gg h_{p^*}$. If so, we can use our asymptotic conformal blocks to construct the correlator. We leave this problem to future work.

Note that one might think that it is strange in the first place that the conformal block in the limit $z \to 1$ is independent of h_p because one can estimate the correlation function as

$$\langle O_A(\infty)O_B(1)O_B(z)O_A(0)\rangle \xrightarrow[z \to 1]{} |1-z|^{\frac{c-1}{12}-4h_B} |\log(1-z)|^{-3}$$
(7.7)



Figure 14. This figure explains the breakdown of the asymptotic form. Since |q(z)| < 1 in the whole z plane except for OPE singular points, only finite number of c_n $(n = 1 \dots k < \infty)$ effectively contribute to conformal blocks. On the other hand, the lower bound of the region where the coefficients c_k can be well approximated by our formula depends on h_p and the lower bound become large as increasing h_p . (The reason is explained in the main text.) Therefore, if we take h_p too large, then the asymptotic form of the conformal block (6.13) breaks down.

by using our asymptotic form if the asymptotic conformal blocks are independent of h_p , however we know that the correlator has a OPE singularity

$$\langle O_A(\infty)O_B(1)O_B(z)O_A(0)\rangle \xrightarrow[z \to 1]{} |1-z|^{-4h_B},$$
(7.8)

which leads to a contradiction. But actually, in the expression of the asymptotic blocks derived in section 6, we neglect the small effect

$$(q)^{h_p - \frac{c-1}{24}} \xrightarrow[z \to 1]{} e^{-\frac{\pi^2}{\log(16/(1-z))} (h_p - \frac{c-1}{24})},$$
 (7.9)

which is included in the universal prefactor (2.3). If we take account of this contribution to the conformal block, we can reproduce the OPE singularity (7.8) by tunning the OPE coefficients. We will explain it in more detail in section 8.

7.2 Analytic continuation of correlators

From the consideration in the above subsection, one would think that there could be a significant difference between the asymptotic behavior of conformal blocks and correlators and therefore the features important in physics could not be obtained from the asymptotics of conformal blocks. But actually, we can use our asymptotic form directly in considering analytic continuations around OPE singular points, which appears in the calculation of OTOCs. In more details, OTOCs are obtained by analytic continuation of the same Euclidean four point function. If one considers a 2d CFT on a thermal cylinder, OTOCs can



Figure 15. This figure also explains the breakdown of the asymptotic form in terms of the saddle point approximation. When there exists only one saddle point, the situation is simpler than figure 14. If the saddle point (n^*, h_{p^*}) is in the lower triangle, the correlator can be estimated by our Cardy-like formula. On the other hand, if the saddle point is in the upper triangle, we can not estimate the correlator because no expression for c_n is found in this region. However, if $h_{p^*} \gg n_*$ is satisfied, the contributions at $n \geq 1$ are negligible, in that, $n^* = 1$.

be calculated by taking the map $(1-z) \to e^{-2\pi i}(z-1)$ while leaving \bar{z} as it is and taking the limit $z, \bar{z} \to 0$ [24, 44, 45]. Let denote the function after this operation by $f_{\text{mono}}(z)$.

Example:

If one considers $f(z) = \log(1-z)$, then

$$f_{\text{mono}}(z) = f(z) - 2\pi i t$$

$$f_{\text{mono}}(\bar{z}) = f(\bar{z}).$$

In this notation, the OTOC for O_A and O_B can be obtained by calculating the correlator as

$$\sum_{p} C_{AAp} C_{BBp} \mathcal{F}_{BB,\text{mono}}^{AA}(h_p|z) \overline{\mathcal{F}_{BB}^{AA}}(\bar{h}_p|\bar{z}).$$
(7.10)

Taking the limit $z, \bar{z} \to 0$ which corresponds to increasing time t, we can approximate this sum by the identity block as

$$\sum_{p} C_{AAp} C_{BBp} \mathcal{F}_{BB,\text{mono}}^{AA}(h_p|z) \overline{\mathcal{F}_{BB}^{AA}}(\bar{h}_p|\bar{z}) \xrightarrow[z,\bar{z}\to 0]{} \mathcal{F}_{BB,\text{mono}}^{AA}(0|z) \overline{\mathcal{F}_{BB}^{AA}}(0|\bar{z}).$$
(7.11)

As we mentioned before, the elliptic nome has the limit $q_{\text{mono}}(z) \xrightarrow[z \to 0]{} i$, thus we can use our asymptotic form of AABB blocks for the coefficients c_n . Finally, we can obtain the behavior of OTOCs at late times as¹¹

$$\frac{\langle O_A(t)O_BO_A(t)O_B\rangle_{\beta}}{\langle O_AO_A\rangle_{\beta}\langle O_BO_B\rangle_{\beta}} \xrightarrow[t \to \infty]{} e^{-\frac{c-1}{12}\frac{\pi t}{\beta}}, \quad \text{if } h_A, h_B > \frac{c}{32}, \quad (7.12)$$

where the relation between cross ratios and time is given by

$$z \sim -\mathrm{e}^{-2\frac{\pi(t-x)}{\beta}}, \quad \bar{z} \sim -\mathrm{e}^{-2\frac{\pi(t+x)}{\beta}}.$$
 (7.13)

Moreover, in the heavy-light limit, we can reproduce the results in [24, 46]. From our asymptotic form, we can suggest that OTOCs in the holographic CFT have the exponential decay at late times for any operators. And this exponential decay can be seen in no other CFT [44, 45, 47] than the holographic CFT. This may suggest that this late time behavior can also be used as a criterion of chaotic nature of a given quantum field theory, in addition to the existing arguments on the Lyapunov exponent [24, 48, 49].

Actually the result of the Renyi entropy after a local quench [23] can be also obtained in the almost same way as above, that is, all we have to do is calculate only the identity block as in the right hand side of (7.11). In other words, the Renyi entropy after a local quench is a kind of OTOC. The dynamics of the Renyi entropy also receive extensive attention in the context of chaos [50–55] as well as OTOC. And from our result in [23], in holographic CFT, this behaviors of the Renyi entropy after a local quench dramatically change when we use *heavy* operators ($h > \frac{c}{32}$) to excite vacuum states. We expect that this transition exhibits the interesting physics in the holographic CFT.

As these examples of OTOC and Entanglement Entropy, we can extract the interesting physics directly from our asymptotic form of the coefficients c_n , even though we have the problem mentioned in section 7.1.

8 Towards the conformal bootstrap

We would like to comment on the conformal bootstrap between AABB and ABBA (correctly, not ABBA but BAAB) blocks. First, let us consider the bootstrap equation in terms of the elliptic nome q instead of z. By using the relations $z = \left(\frac{\theta_2(q)}{\theta_3(q)}\right)^4$ and $1-z = \left(\frac{\theta_4(q)}{\theta_3(q)}\right)^4$, we can reexpress conformal blocks as

$$\phi_{B}(\infty) \qquad \phi_{A}(0) = (16q)^{h_{p} - \frac{c-1}{24}} (16\eta(q)^{12})^{\frac{c-1}{24} - h_{A} - h_{B}} \left(\frac{\theta_{3}(q)^{2h_{A}}}{\theta_{2}(q)^{h_{A} - h_{B}}}\right)^{4} H_{BB}^{AA}(h_{p}|q)$$

$$\phi_{B}(1) \qquad \phi_{A}(z) \qquad (8.1)$$

¹¹One might wonder we can not estimate the OTOC since we do not know the asymptotic behavior of the *heavy-heavy* block in the limit $q \to i$. However, we can estimate the bound of the block as mentioned in section 3.2 (see eq. (3.10)). As a result, we can find that the contribution of the function $H(h_p|q)$ to the block can be neglected compared to the universal prefactor $\Lambda(h_p|q)$. This leads to the estimation of the OTOC (7.12).

and

$$\phi_{B}(\infty) \qquad \phi_{A}(1) = (16\tilde{q})^{h_{p} - \frac{c-1}{24}} (16\eta(\tilde{q})^{12})^{\frac{c-1}{24} - h_{A} - h_{B}} \left(\frac{\theta_{3}(\tilde{q})^{2h_{A}}}{\theta_{4}(\tilde{q})^{h_{A} - h_{B}}}\right)^{4} H_{AB}^{AB}(h_{p}|\tilde{q})$$

$$= (-i\tau)^{\frac{c-1}{4} - 2(h_{A} + h_{B})} (16\tilde{q})^{h_{p} - \frac{c-1}{24}} (16\eta(q)^{12})^{\frac{c-1}{24} - h_{A} - h_{B}}$$

$$\times \left(\frac{\theta_{3}(q)^{2h_{A}}}{\theta_{2}(q)^{h_{A} - h_{B}}}\right)^{4} H_{AB}^{AB}(h_{p}|\tilde{q})$$

$$(8.2)$$

where η is the Dedekind eta function and $\tilde{q}(z) = q(1-z)$. We will set $q = \bar{q} = e^{-\frac{\beta}{2}}$, then we have the following bootstrap equation,

$$\sum_{p} C_{AAp} C_{BBp} (16)^{\Delta_{p}} e^{-\frac{\beta}{2} (\Delta_{p} - \frac{c-1}{12})} H_{BB}^{AA} (h_{p}|q) \overline{H_{BB}^{AA} (h_{p}|q)}$$

$$= \sum_{p} C_{ABp}^{2} \left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi}\right)^{\frac{c-1}{2} - 4(\Delta_{A} + \Delta_{B})} (16)^{\Delta_{p}} e^{-\frac{2\pi^{2}}{\beta} (\Delta_{p} - \frac{c-1}{12})} H_{AB}^{AB} (h_{p}|\tilde{q}) \overline{H_{AB}^{AB} (h_{p}|\tilde{q})}$$
(8.3)

where we used the following identities,

$$\theta_3\left(-\frac{1}{\tau}\right) = \sqrt{-i\tau}\theta_3(\tau), \qquad \theta_4\left(-\frac{1}{\tau}\right) = \sqrt{-i\tau}\theta_2(\tau), \qquad \eta\left(-\frac{1}{\tau}\right) = \sqrt{-i\tau}\eta(\tau). \tag{8.4}$$

In most cases, the bootstrap equation can be applied to two limits, the *high-low temperature limit* and the *medium temperature limit*. Let us see each limit in the following:

The high-low temperature limit. The most famous consequence of the high-low temperature limit is Cardy's formula [36], which can be derived by setting $h_A = h_B = \frac{c}{32}$ in (8.3). If we take the limit $\beta \to \infty$ in (8.3), then we have

$$e^{\frac{\beta}{2}\frac{c-1}{12}}H^{AA}_{BB}(0|q)\overline{H^{AA}_{BB}(0|q)} = \sum_{p} C^{2}_{ABp} \left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi}\right)^{\frac{c-1}{2}-4(\Delta_{A}+\Delta_{B})} (16)^{\Delta_{p}} e^{-\frac{2\pi^{2}}{\beta}\left(\Delta_{p}-\frac{c-1}{12}\right)}H^{AB}_{AB}(h_{p}|\tilde{q})\overline{H^{AB}_{AB}(h_{p}|\tilde{q})}.$$
(8.5)

From the expression of the $H(h_p|q)$ function (2.4), we can see that

$$H_{34}^{21}(h_p|q) \xrightarrow[q \to 0]{} 1. \tag{8.6}$$

Here, we assume that

$$H_{34}^{21}(h_p|q) \xrightarrow[h_p \to \infty]{} 1.$$
(8.7)

We have to mention again that this is valid only in the regime (5.11),¹²

$$h_p |\log q|^2 \gg c, \tag{8.9}$$

except for special cases. In the high-low temperature limit, the bootstrap equation (8.3) is simplified as

$$e^{\frac{\beta}{2}\frac{c-1}{12}} = \sum_{p} C_{ABp}^{2} \left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi}\right)^{\frac{c-1}{2}-4(\Delta_{A}+\Delta_{B})} (16)^{\Delta_{p}} e^{-\frac{2\pi^{2}}{\beta}\left(\Delta_{p}-\frac{c-1}{12}\right)}.$$
 (8.10)

Here we assume c > 1. Thus there are many heavy primary states, and the sum in (8.10) can be approximated by an integral as

$$e^{\frac{\beta}{2}\frac{c-1}{12}} = \int d\Delta_p \ \rho(\Delta_p) \overline{C_{ABp}^2} \left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi}\right)^{\frac{c-1}{2} - 4(\Delta_A + \Delta_B)} (16)^{\Delta_p} e^{-\frac{2\pi^2}{\beta} \left(\Delta_p - \frac{c-1}{12}\right)}, \quad (8.11)$$

where $\rho(\Delta_p)$ is the density of states which has the asymptotic formula called as Cardy's formula:

$$\rho(\Delta_p) \xrightarrow{\Delta_p \to \infty} e^{4\pi \sqrt{\frac{c-1}{12} \left(\Delta_p - \frac{c-1}{12}\right)}} \quad (\Delta_p \gg c), \tag{8.12}$$

and the average is over all primary operators of fixed dimension Δ_p .

By using the inverse Laplace transformation, we can obtain the mean-squared OPE coefficients as

$$\overline{C_{ABp}^2} \xrightarrow{\Delta_p \to \infty} \frac{\pi}{16^{\Delta_p} \left(\frac{12\Delta_p}{c-1} - 1\right)^{4(\Delta_A + \Delta_B) - \frac{c+1}{2}}} e^{-2\pi \sqrt{\frac{c-1}{12} \left(\Delta_p - \frac{c-1}{12}\right)}}.$$
(8.13)

Here we can reexpress (8.13) by using entropy as

$$\sqrt{\overline{C_{ABp}^2}} \xrightarrow{\Delta_p \to \infty} 4^{-\Delta_p} \mathrm{e}^{-\frac{S(\Delta_p)}{4}}.$$
(8.14)

Note that in [58], the mean-squared OPE coefficients $\overline{C_{AAp}^2}$ are given in much the same way as the above approach (they used the quantization on the pillow metric

$$h_p \left|\log q\right|^2 \gg 1,\tag{8.8}$$

which is shown by the large h limit of a 1-point conformal block on a torus. In that case, we can estimate the large h expansion of the block on a torus by using the Virasoro algebra. However, we can not find out the corresponding derivation for the 4-point block. Note that the r.h.s. of (8.9) and (8.8) are different in spite of the Poghossian identities [56, 57]. We believe that it comes from the special property for the block with h_A or $h_B = \frac{c}{32}$ as explained in the last of section 5.2. Note that the regime (8.8) comes from the expectation that no descendants contribute to a 1-point block on a torus at large h_p in large c CFTs. However, it does not occur in the bootstrap for 4-point function (see appendix C).

 $^{^{12}}$ In [30], the asymptotics for heavy-heavy-light three point coefficients is derived in the similar way. We believe that the regime (8.9) is corresponding to (45) in [30],

and they restrict attention to the case $\Delta_A = \Delta_B$) and they give the holographic dual interpretation of $\overline{C_{AAp}^2}$.

However, the saddle point of the inverse Laplace transformation for (8.11) is given by

$$\Delta_p \left| \log \tilde{q} \right|^2 \simeq \pi^2 \frac{c-1}{12}. \tag{8.15}$$

This does not satisfy the condition (8.9), therefore the above derivation of the three point function is subtle. As discussed in section 7.1, it is possible that the saddle point h_{p^*} of the r.h.s. of (8.5) is smaller than n^* , which is defined by (7.5). If the inequality $h_{p^*} < n^*$ is satisfied, then we should use our asymptotic formula,

$$H_{AB}^{AB}(h_{p^{*}}|e^{-\frac{2\pi^{2}}{\beta}}) \leq \begin{cases} e^{\frac{\beta}{2}\left(\frac{c-1}{24}-4h_{B}+\frac{c-1}{6}\left(1-\sqrt{1-\frac{24}{c-1}h_{B}}\right)\right)}, \text{ if } h_{B} \ll c, \\ \beta^{4(h_{A}+h_{B})-\frac{c+5}{4}}, & \text{ if } h_{A,B} > \frac{c}{32}, \end{cases}$$
(8.16)

instead of (8.7). From our numerical observations (5.5) or (5.6), we expect at least that

$$0 \leq_{\beta \to \infty} \log \left(H_{AB}^{AB}(h_{p^*} | e^{-\frac{2\pi^2}{\beta}}) \right) \\ \leq_{\beta \to \infty} \begin{cases} \frac{\beta}{2} \left(\frac{c-1}{24} - 4h_B + \frac{c-1}{6} \left(1 - \sqrt{1 - \frac{24}{c-1}} h_B \right) \right), \text{ if } h_B \ll c, \\ \left(4(h_A + h_B) - \frac{c+5}{4} \right) \log \beta, & \text{ if } h_{A,B} > \frac{c}{32}, \end{cases}$$

$$(8.17)$$

in the limit $\beta \to \infty$.

From the above observation, it is shown that for $h_B \ll c$, the bootstrap equation can be described instead of (8.11) as

$$e^{\frac{\beta}{2}\frac{c-1}{12}} \leq \int d\Delta_p \ \rho(\Delta_p) \overline{C_{ABp}^2} \left(\frac{\beta}{2\pi}\right)^{\frac{c-1}{2}-4(\Delta_A+\Delta_B)} (16)^{\Delta_p} \times e^{-\frac{2\pi^2}{\beta}\left(\Delta_p - \frac{c-1}{12}\right)} e^{\frac{\beta}{2}\left(\frac{c-1}{12} - 4\Delta_B + \frac{c-1}{3}\left(1 - \sqrt{1 - \frac{12}{c-1}\Delta_B}\right)\right)},$$

$$(8.18)$$

where we set $h_A = \overline{h_A}$ and $h_B = \overline{h_B}$ for simplicity. Here the above inequality is satisfied only if $\beta \to \infty$. By using the inverse Laplace transformation, we can get the asymptotic three point function by

$$16^{-\Delta_{p}} e^{4\pi \sqrt{\left(\Delta_{B} - \frac{c-1}{12} \left(1 - \sqrt{1 - \frac{12}{c-1}} \Delta_{B}\right)\right) \left(\Delta_{p} - \frac{c-1}{12}\right)} - 4\pi \sqrt{\frac{c-1}{12} \left(\Delta_{p} - \frac{c-1}{12}\right)}} \leq \frac{C_{ABp}}{\Delta_{p} \to \infty}$$

$$(8.19)$$

$$\leq 16^{-\Delta_{p}} e^{-2\pi \sqrt{\frac{c-1}{12} \left(\Delta_{p} - \frac{c-1}{12}\right)}},$$

where the second inequality is led by (8.13).

For $h_{A,B} > \frac{c}{32}$, the bootstrap equation is

$$e^{\frac{\beta}{2}\frac{c-1}{12}} \leq \int d\Delta_p \ \rho(\Delta_p) \overline{C_{ABp}^2} \beta^{-3} e^{-\frac{2\pi^2}{\beta} \left(\Delta_p - \frac{c-1}{12}\right)} 16^{\Delta_p}, \tag{8.20}$$

where we set $h_A = \overline{h_A}$ and $h_B = \overline{h_B}$ again. This inequality leads to the asymptotic inequality as

$$16^{-\Delta_{p}} \mathrm{e}^{-2\pi\sqrt{\frac{c-1}{12}\left(\Delta_{p}-\frac{c-1}{12}\right)}} \leq \overline{C_{ABp}^{2}} \leq 16^{-\Delta_{p}} \mathrm{e}^{-2\pi\sqrt{\frac{c-1}{12}\left(\Delta_{p}-\frac{c-1}{12}\right)}}, \qquad (8.21)$$

which means that the leading asymptotic behavior of the three point function C_{ABp} with $h_{A,B} > \frac{c}{32}$ in the limit $h_p \to \infty$ is perfectly determined by the conformal bootstrap as

$$\overline{C_{ABp}^2} \xrightarrow{\Delta_p \to \infty} 16^{-\Delta_p} \mathrm{e}^{-2\pi \sqrt{\frac{c-1}{12} \left(\Delta_p - \frac{c-1}{12}\right)}}.$$
(8.22)

Actually, it is possible that this asymptotics is true for any external dimensions. However, we have shown that the asymptotics of blocks drastically changes at $\frac{c}{32}$ (which means that the contribution from the descendants differs based on the external dimensions) and therefore it is also possible that the asymptotics of three point functions also has the transition.

The medium temperature limit. One of the main contributions of the medium temperature limit is to derive the upper bound on the gap, which is called the Hellerman bound [26–28] and which is revisited by using semiclassical conformal blocks [42]. And this limit is also used in the numerical bootstrap [4, 59–61].

If one hopes to make use of the bootstrap equation in this limit, we have to resolve the problem mentioned in section 7.1. In other words, we have to understand the behavior of the coefficients c_n for $n \sim h_p$. This is an important future work.

It is also interesting to consider the bootstrap equation in various limits unexplored after analytic continuations. It might be possible to solve the bootstrap equation analytically in some of them by using our asymptotic formula.

9 Discussion

In this paper, we study large-c conformal blocks of 4-pt functions on a sphere and find the simple asymptotic form of the blocks and the transition of the behavior of the blocks at $h_{A,B} = \frac{c}{32}$. This strongly suggests the interesting structures or physical phenomena in CFT and gravity theory, but for now we can not answer what happens at that point. We hope to understand how to interpret this interesting phenomena as physics.

One might ask whether there are other situations where the value $\frac{c}{32}$ appears. Actually, this dimension can be seen in the twist-2 operator. As mentioned in the last of section 5.2, we can find the following two facts:

- 1. For the blocks with the external operators $h_i = \frac{c}{32}$, the monodromy method can be solved exactly [41].
- 2. We can find a relation between the universal prefactor $\Lambda(h_p|q)$ and a character as

$$\Lambda_{\frac{c'}{32},\frac{c'}{32}c=c'-1}^{\frac{c'}{32},\frac{c'}{32}}(h_p|q) = 16^{h_p} e^{S_{\text{anomaly}}} \chi_{\frac{h_p}{2},c=\frac{c'}{2}}(\tau), \qquad (9.1)$$

where the conformal anomaly factor is given by [62],

$$\langle \sigma_2 \sigma_2 \sigma_2 \sigma_2 \sigma_2 \rangle = e^{\frac{c'}{2} S_{\text{anomaly}}} Z_{c=\frac{c'}{2}}(\tau, \bar{\tau}) = \left| 2^8 z (1-z) \right|^{-\frac{c'}{24}} Z_{c=\frac{c'}{2}}(\tau, \bar{\tau}).$$
 (9.2)

Moreover, in the large c limit, we can neglect the contribution of the function $H(h_p|q)$ to the Virasoro block [42], in that,

$$\frac{\log H_{\frac{c'}{32},\frac{c'}{32},\frac{c'}{2}}{\frac{c'}{32},\frac{c'}{32},\frac{c'}{2$$

This is consistent with that the coefficients c_n vanish at h_A or $h_B = \frac{c}{32}$, which can be seen from our formula (3.7). As a result, we obtain the following relation in the large c limit,

$$\mathcal{F}_{\frac{c}{32},\frac{c}{32}}^{\frac{c}{32},\frac{c}{32}}(h_p|q) = 16^{h_p} \mathrm{e}^{S_{\mathrm{anomaly}}} \chi_{\frac{h_p}{2},\frac{c}{2}}(\tau) \,. \tag{9.4}$$

We believe that these facts, our formula (3.7) and our conjectures illustrated in figure 1, 7 correlate to each other. It could be a key to understand the transition at $\frac{c}{32}$ analytically.¹³

Another future work is to derive the simple asymptotic form in figure 1, 7 by using the Zamolodchikov recursion relation analytically. Actually it seems to be hard work because this simplification is attributed to many cancellations of terms in (2.10).¹⁴ However, our numerical computation suggests that large c conformal blocks have a simple expression, which means that it might be possible to derive the large c conformal blocks analytically in some way. We hope to give the large c blocks, at least the coefficients c_n , in some analytic way.

It is also interesting to generalize the sparseness condition [25] from the modular invariance to the condition to OPE coefficients from the crossing symmetry (8.3) as in [42] by using our results for large c conformal blocks.

In this paper, we show only the asymptotic behavior of conformal blocks in the vicinity of z = 1, but those after picking up a monodromy at OPE singularities also interesting, for example, they appear in the calculation of Entanglement Entropy and OTOC as argued in section 7.2. And also, as mentioned in [35], it is intriguing to consider the limit after picking up a monodromy, which could be a new limit to solve the conformal bootstrap equation analytically.

One can generalize our analysis to more general blocks, in that, ABCD blocks, which have four different external dimensions h_A, h_B, h_C, h_D . We expect that one can also see the transition at $\frac{c}{32}$ for ABCD blocks and find a simple asymptotic expression for the blocks. However, if one wants to uncover the properties of ABCD blocks, one has to investigate the blocks with six parameters $(h_A, h_B, h_C, h_D, h_p \text{ and } c)$. As one easily expects, it takes much more time than studying AABB or ABBA blocks, therefore, we leave it as a future work.

¹³Actually, one can also find the transition at $\frac{c}{32}$ in the fusion matrix [63]. ¹⁴One can easily see this cancellations when trying to observe our formula (3.3) for small n.



Figure 16. The behaviors of the coefficients c_n of ABBA blocks. The left is for $(h_A, h_B) = (\frac{c}{12}, \frac{c}{12})$ and the right is for $(h_A, h_B) = (\frac{c}{12}, \frac{c}{240})$. The blue dots are the numerical values of $\log c_n$. The red lines are $Bn^{\alpha}e^{A\sqrt{n}}$ with the constant B determined by the fit. We now set c = 30.01 and $h_p = 0.01$.

Acknowledgments

We are grateful to Tadashi Takayanagi and Henry Maxfield for fruitful discussions and comments. We also thank Kanato Goto, Sylvain Ribault, Diptarka Das and Shouvik Datta for useful discussions, and in particular Pawel Caputa, Yasuaki Hikida and Jared Kaplan for reading the draft of this paper and giving us valuable comments. YK is supported by JSPS fellowship.

A More details of numerical computations

A.1 Well-fitted for any n in the heavy-light limit

In this subsection, we display plots of the *n* dependence of the coefficients c_n of ABBA blocks and we show that the coefficients c_n are well-fitted by

$$c_n \sim n^{\alpha} \mathrm{e}^{A\sqrt{n}} \tag{A.1}$$

for higher n.

Figure 16 shows the *n* dependence of the numerical values of c_n (blue dots) and the fitted function by $n^{\alpha} e^{A\sqrt{n}}$ (red line). From these figures, one can find that the numerical values of c_n are well-fitted by $n^{\alpha} e^{A\sqrt{n}}$ for higher *n*. And moreover one can find that in the heavy-light limit (the right in figure 16), the coefficients c_n are also well-fitted for small *n*, which implies that

$$H(h_p|q) \simeq 1 + \sum_{n=1} n^{\alpha} e^{A\sqrt{n}} q^n$$
(A.2)

can be applied for z away from the point z = 1.





Figure 17. The plots of c_n for $h_A = \frac{c}{30}$ and $h_B = \frac{c}{24} \times \frac{6}{10}, \frac{7}{10}, \frac{8}{10}, \frac{9}{10}$. One can see that approaching $h_B = \frac{c}{32}$ causes the oscillation of the coefficients c_n .



Figure 18. The behaviors of the coefficients c_n of AABB blocks. The left is for $(h_A, h_B) = (\frac{c}{12}, \frac{c}{12})$ and the right is for $(h_A, h_B) = (\frac{c}{12}, \frac{c}{240})$. The blue dots are the numerical values of $\log c_n$. The red lines are $Bn^{\alpha}e^{A\sqrt{n}}$ with the constant *B* determined by the fit. We now set c = 100.01 and $h_p = 0$.

Note that in the vicinity of the value $h_{A,B} = \frac{c}{32}$, the coefficients c_n widely oscillate for small n as in figure 17. This is the reason why one can see some strange dots near the line $h_{A,B} = \frac{c}{32}$ in some figures (for example, figure 3). However, if we extend the analysis of the behavior of the coefficients c_n to higher n, we can again obtain the behavior well-fitted by (A.1).

Note also that the phenomena that c_n are well-fitted in the heavy-light limit can be also seen in the coefficients of AABB blocks as in figure 18.



Figure 19. The plots of A (left) and α (right) of AABB blocks for various values of (c, h_B) with $h_A = \frac{c}{24}$ and $h_p = 0$.

A.2 Some extra plots

One might ask whether the transition at $\frac{c}{32}$ occurs for c > 25 and we could answer "yes" at least based on our numerical computations. Take a look at figure 19, which shows the values of A of AABB blocks for various values of (c, h_B) with $h_A = \frac{c}{24}$ and $h_p = 0$. It suggests that the transition point is always at $\frac{c}{32}$.

Note that in our numerical computation, we approximate \sqrt{c} at 500 digits of accuracy, which is in particular a rational number. Therefore we always encounter the problem of the divergence of the denominator of (2.11). In our setup, this problem occurs at very high n and therefore we can neglect it. However, if one might try to set c small, then the denominator of (2.11) approaches zero many times, which leads to singular behaviors of c_n in figure 19. Therefore, in our computation, we can not see universal asymptotic form of c_n for small c.

Figure 20 shows the values of A of AABB blocks for various values of (c, h_p) with $h_A = \frac{c}{24}$ and $h_B = \frac{c}{240}$. One can see that the slope of the values of A vs. c is independent of h_p , which suggests that the coefficients c_n have no product term $h_p \times c$.

Note that the fits of A and α by using the values c_n , (n = 1, 2, ..., N) are not valid for $h_p \sim N$ because it is expected that the universal behavior arises from $n \gg h_p$ as discussed in section 7.1. The steep slope in figure 20 for large h_p is caused by this problem, and consequently, it is meaningless. We have to see only the region $h_p \ll N$. In figure 20, we set N = 300.

Figure 21 shows the h_p dependence of $c_n(h_p)$ with fixed n = 10, 100, 500, 1000 for AABB blocks with $(h_A, h_B) = (\frac{c}{24}, \frac{c}{240})$, which is in the *heavy-light* region. One can see that the point of the transition form the gentle slope to steep slope shifts to the right as we take n larger. This means that the value of h_p where our Cardy-like formula breaks down is of order O(n), in that,

$$c_n(h_p) \sim \begin{cases} \text{const.} , & \text{if } h_p \lesssim n, \\ \left(\frac{1}{h_p}\right)^{\text{const.}} , & \text{if } h_p \gtrsim n. \end{cases}$$
(A.3)



Figure 20. The plot of the values of A (left) and α (right) for various values of (c, h_p) .



Figure 21. The h_p dependence of $c_n(h_p)$ with fixed n = 10, 100, 500, 1000 for AABB blocks with $(h_A, h_B) = (\frac{c}{24}, \frac{c}{240})$, which is in the *heavy-light* region.

Moreover, this property can be also seen for ABBA blocks. It is shown in figure 22, 23 and 24. We can immediately see from these figures that the relations (5.7), (5.8) and (5.9) hold not only for AABB blocks but also ABBA blocks.

B Comparing with the semiclassical limit

B.1 Heavy-light limit

In the region $h_A > \frac{c}{32}h_B < \frac{c}{32}$, AABB blocks have the sign pattern

$$\operatorname{Sign}(c_{2n}) = (-1)^n, \tag{B.1}$$



Figure 22. The h_p dependence of $c_n(h_p)$ with fixed n = 10, 100, 500, 1000 for ABBA blocks with $(h_A, h_B) = (\frac{c}{24}, \frac{c}{240})$, which is in the *heavy-light* region.



Figure 23. The h_p dependence of $c_n(h_p)$ with fixed n = 10 (left) and 1000 (right) for ABBA blocks with $(h_A, h_B) = (\frac{c}{24}, \frac{c}{16})$, which is in the *heavy-light* region.

therefore, the function $H(h_p|q)$ is described by

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (-1)^n (2n)^{\alpha} e^{A\sqrt{2n}} q^{2n}.$$
 (B.2)

Let us consider the limit $q \to i$, which is corresponding to the limit $z \to 0$ after the transformation $(1-z) \to e^{-2\pi i}(1-z)$. We know the expression for the large c block in the heavy light limit,

$$\mathcal{F}_{LL}^{HH}(h_p|z) = (1-z)^{h_L(\alpha-1)} \left(\frac{1-(1-z)^{\alpha}}{\alpha}\right)^{h_p-2h_L} {}_2F_1(h_p,h_p,2h_p|1-(1-z)^{\alpha})$$
(B.3)



Figure 24. The *n* dependence of $\gamma(n)$ for ABBA blocks, which is the power of (5.8). We can see that the growth of $\gamma(n)$ with *n* is slower and slower as *n* approaches infinity.

where $\alpha = \sqrt{1 - \frac{24}{c}h_H}$. In the limit $q \to i$, the asymptotic behavior is

$$\mathcal{F}_{LL,\text{mono}}^{HH}(h_p|z) \xrightarrow[z \to 0]{} O(z^0),$$
 (B.4)

which leads to

$$H_{LL,\text{mono}}^{HH}(h_p|q) \xrightarrow[z \to 0]{} z^{-\frac{c-1}{24}+2h_L} (\log z)^{-\frac{c-1}{4}+4(h_H+h_L)}.$$
 (B.5)

And also in the limit $q \rightarrow i$, we can approximate the sum (B.2) as

$$z^{-\frac{A^2}{\pi^2}} (\log z)^{\frac{3}{2}+2\alpha}$$
(B.6)

where we used the asymptotic behavior of τ ,

$$\tau_{\rm mono}(z) \xrightarrow[z \to 0]{} \frac{1}{2} \left(1 - \frac{\pi i}{2} \frac{1}{\log \frac{z}{16}} \right).$$
(B.7)

Substituting our numerical result (3.4), that is

$$A = \pi \sqrt{\frac{c-1}{24} - 2h_L},$$

$$\alpha = 2(h_H + h_L) - \frac{c+5}{8},$$
(B.8)

into the sum approximation (B.6), then we can exactly reproduce the asymptotic behavior of the HHLL block (B.5).

We can also consider the limit $q \to 1$, which is corresponding to $z \to 1$. In this case, one can naively expect that the summation (B.2) could be approximated by

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (-1)^n (2n)^{\alpha} e^{A\sqrt{2n}} q^{2n} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (4k)^{\alpha} e^{A\sqrt{4k}} q^{4k} - \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (4k+2)^{\alpha} e^{A\sqrt{4k+2}} q^{4k+2}$$
$$\simeq \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (4k)^{\alpha} e^{A\sqrt{4k}} q^{4k} \left(1 - \left(1 + \frac{A}{\sqrt{4k}}\right) q^2\right)$$
$$\xrightarrow[z \to 1]{} (1-z)^{-\frac{A^2}{4\pi^2}}.$$
(B.9)

If this is correct, then substituting the value of A in (B.8) leads to

$$\xrightarrow[z \to 1]{} (1-z)^{-\frac{1}{4}\sqrt{\frac{c-1}{24}-2h_L}}.$$
(B.10)

However, this is different from the behavior from the HHLL block (B.3) in the limit $z \to 1$ as

$$H_{LL}^{HH}(h_p|q) \xrightarrow[z \to 1]{} (1-z)^{-\frac{c-1}{24} + h_H + h_L} \sqrt{1 - \frac{24}{c}} h_H.$$
 (B.11)

Actually, it is not allowed to approximate the alternating series by the saddle point method as (B.9). One can see this breakdown easily, for example, if one tries to approximate the following alternating series in the limit $x \to \infty$,

$$\sum_{n} \frac{(-x)^{n}}{n!} = \sum_{k} \frac{x^{2k}}{2k!} \left(1 - \frac{x}{2k+1} \right).$$
(B.12)

We know that the exact behavior of this series as $\simeq e^{-x}$, however if one approximates the alternating series by the saddle point approximation, then one gets a wrong behavior $\simeq e^{x}$.¹⁵ In fact, this is obvious because when the alternating series is split into two parts as (B.9) and approximated by the saddle point approximation, only the dominant contributions for each of two parts are extracted and other contributions are removed, but the dominant contributions cancel each other and the correct asymptotic behavior consists of the subleading contributions, rather than the dominant contributions. Therefore, the saddle point approximation for each of the two terms leads to the wrong asymptotic behavior. We hope to know how to obtain the correct asymptotic behavior of (B.9), in other words, how to evaluate an alternating series by approximation.

B.2 Light-light region

In a pat of the *light-light* region (displayed by the blue region in figure 1), the semiclassical blocks in the limit $\epsilon \ll 1$ can be obtained by using the monodromy method near z = 1 [16], which is given by

$$\mathcal{F}_{BB}^{AA}(h_p|1-\epsilon) \sim \epsilon^{-\frac{c}{12}\left(1-\sqrt{1-\frac{24h_A}{c}}\right)\left(1-\sqrt{1-\frac{24h_B}{c}}\right)}$$
(B.14)

$$\sum_{n} \frac{x^{n}}{n!} \simeq \int \mathrm{d}n \ \mathrm{e}^{n \log x - n \log n + n} \simeq \mathrm{e}^{x}.$$
(B.13)

 $^{^{15} \}mathrm{If}$ the signs are not alternating, we can get the correct answer by using the saddle point approximation, in that,

and therefore,

$$H_{BB}^{AA}(h_p|1-\epsilon) \sim \epsilon^{-\frac{c-1}{24} + h_A + h_B - \frac{c}{12}\left(1 - \sqrt{1 - \frac{24h_A}{c}}\right)\left(1 - \sqrt{1 - \frac{24h_B}{c}}\right)}.$$
 (B.15)

Comparing this with (6.2), we obtain the theoretical value of A as¹⁶

$$A = 2\pi \sqrt{\frac{c-1}{24} - h_A - h_B + \frac{c}{12} \left(1 - \sqrt{1 - \frac{24h_A}{c}}\right) \left(1 - \sqrt{1 - \frac{24h_B}{c}}\right)}.$$
 (B.16)

The block (B.14) is derived under the limit $c \to \infty$. It's natural that the exact expression can be obtained by a shift of $c \to c-1$. Therefore, we expect that the explicit A is given by

$$A = 2\pi \sqrt{\frac{c-1}{24} - h_A - h_B + \frac{c-1}{12} \left(1 - \sqrt{1 - \frac{24h_A}{c-1}}\right) \left(1 - \sqrt{1 - \frac{24h_B}{c-1}}\right)}.$$
 (B.17)

This value is perfectly match our numerical computations. Note that if expanding A at small $\frac{h_B}{c}$, we obtain the heavy-light limit of A by

$$A = 2\pi \sqrt{\frac{c-1}{24} - h_A - h_B} \sqrt{1 - \frac{24h_A}{c-1}},$$
(B.18)

which has been derived by the heavy-light blocks in our previous paper [23].

C The asymptotics of heavy-light-light coefficients

In this section, we will show the heavy-light-light three point function for arbitrary states. A four point functions can be expanded by 17

$$\langle O(\infty)O(1)O(x)O(0)\rangle = x^{-2\Delta_O} \sum_p C_{OOp}^2 x^{\Delta_p}, \tag{C.1}$$

where we set $z = \overline{z} = x$ and the sum is over all operators in the CFT. This expansion leads to the bootstrap equation in the limit $x \to 1$,

$$\sum_{p} C_{OOp}^2 x^{\Delta_p} \sim (1-x)^{-2\Delta_O} \,. \tag{C.2}$$

From this equation, we can immediately obtain

$$\sum_{\Delta_p \text{ fixed}} C_{OOp}^2 \xrightarrow[\Delta_p \to \infty]{} (\Delta_p)^{2\Delta_O - 1}$$
(C.3)

by using the inverse Laplace transformation. This means that the heavy-light-light three point function for arbitrary states is given by

$$\sqrt{\overline{C_{OOp}^2}} \xrightarrow[]{\Delta_p \to \infty} e^{-\frac{S(\Delta_p)}{2}}.$$
 (C.4)

The result (8.14) for only primaries does not reduce to the above three point function even if $c \to \infty$. However, it's natural because for general four point conformal blocks, we can not neglect descendants even if $c \to \infty$.

¹⁶We are very much grateful to Henry Maxfield for pointing out this to us.

¹⁷Here, the convention is different from the usual 2d CFT convention. We consider normalized eigenstates of L_0 as in the former of [30].

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- [1] S. Ferrara, A.F. Grillo and R. Gatto, Tensor representations of conformal algebra and conformally covariant operator product expansion, Annals Phys. **76** (1973) 161 [INSPIRE].
- [2] A.M. Polyakov, Nonhamiltonian approach to conformal quantum field theory, Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 66 (1974) 23 [INSPIRE].
- [3] A.A. Belavin, A.M. Polyakov and A.B. Zamolodchikov, *Infinite Conformal Symmetry in Two-Dimensional Quantum Field Theory*, *Nucl. Phys.* B 241 (1984) 333 [INSPIRE].
- [4] R. Rattazzi, V.S. Rychkov, E. Tonni and A. Vichi, Bounding scalar operator dimensions in 4D CFT, JHEP 12 (2008) 031 [arXiv:0807.0004] [INSPIRE].
- [5] A.B. Zamolodchikov, Conformal symmetry in two-dimensions: an explicit recurrence formula for the conformal partial wave amplitude, Commun. Math. Phys. **96** (1984) 419 [INSPIRE].
- [6] A.B. Zamolodchikov, Conformal symmetry in two-dimensional space: recursion representation of conformal block, Theor. Math. Phys. **73** (1987) 1088.
- [7] I. Heemskerk, J. Penedones, J. Polchinski and J. Sully, *Holography from Conformal Field Theory*, JHEP 10 (2009) 079 [arXiv:0907.0151] [INSPIRE].
- [8] I. Heemskerk and J. Sully, More Holography from Conformal Field Theory, JHEP 09 (2010) 099 [arXiv:1006.0976] [INSPIRE].
- [9] S. El-Showk and K. Papadodimas, Emergent Spacetime and Holographic CFTs, JHEP 10 (2012) 106 [arXiv:1101.4163] [INSPIRE].
- [10] A.L. Fitzpatrick and J. Kaplan, AdS Field Theory from Conformal Field Theory, JHEP 02 (2013) 054 [arXiv:1208.0337] [INSPIRE].
- [11] A.L. Fitzpatrick, J. Kaplan, D. Poland and D. Simmons-Duffin, The Analytic Bootstrap and AdS Superhorizon Locality, JHEP 12 (2013) 004 [arXiv:1212.3616] [INSPIRE].
- [12] E. Hijano, P. Kraus, E. Perlmutter and R. Snively, Witten Diagrams Revisited: The AdS Geometry of Conformal Blocks, JHEP 01 (2016) 146 [arXiv:1508.00501] [INSPIRE].
- [13] A.L. Fitzpatrick, J. Kaplan and M.T. Walters, Universality of Long-Distance AdS Physics from the CFT Bootstrap, JHEP 08 (2014) 145 [arXiv:1403.6829] [INSPIRE].
- [14] A.L. Fitzpatrick, J. Kaplan and M.T. Walters, Virasoro Conformal Blocks and Thermality from Classical Background Fields, JHEP 11 (2015) 200 [arXiv:1501.05315] [INSPIRE].
- [15] A.L. Fitzpatrick, J. Kaplan, M.T. Walters and J. Wang, Hawking from Catalan, JHEP 05 (2016) 069 [arXiv:1510.00014] [INSPIRE].
- [16] A.L. Fitzpatrick and J. Kaplan, On the Late-Time Behavior of Virasoro Blocks and a Classification of Semiclassical Saddles, JHEP 04 (2017) 072 [arXiv:1609.07153] [INSPIRE].
- [17] K.B. Alkalaev and V.A. Belavin, Classical conformal blocks via AdS/CFT correspondence, JHEP 08 (2015) 049 [arXiv:1504.05943] [INSPIRE].
- [18] E. Hijano, P. Kraus, E. Perlmutter and R. Snively, Semiclassical Virasoro blocks from AdS₃ gravity, JHEP 12 (2015) 077 [arXiv:1508.04987] [INSPIRE].

- [19] E. Hijano, P. Kraus and R. Snively, Worldline approach to semi-classical conformal blocks, JHEP 07 (2015) 131 [arXiv:1501.02260] [INSPIRE].
- [20] K.B. Alkalaev and V.A. Belavin, Monodromic vs geodesic computation of Virasoro classical conformal blocks, Nucl. Phys. B 904 (2016) 367 [arXiv:1510.06685] [INSPIRE].
- [21] P. Caputa, J. Simón, A. Štikonas and T. Takayanagi, Quantum Entanglement of Localized Excited States at Finite Temperature, JHEP 01 (2015) 102 [arXiv:1410.2287] [INSPIRE].
- [22] C.T. Asplund, A. Bernamonti, F. Galli and T. Hartman, Holographic Entanglement Entropy from 2d CFT: Heavy States and Local Quenches, JHEP 02 (2015) 171 [arXiv:1410.1392] [INSPIRE].
- [23] Y. Kusuki and T. Takayanagi, Renyi entropy for local quenches in 2D CFT from numerical conformal blocks, JHEP 01 (2018) 115 [arXiv:1711.09913] [INSPIRE].
- [24] D.A. Roberts and D. Stanford, Two-dimensional conformal field theory and the butterfly effect, Phys. Rev. Lett. 115 (2015) 131603 [arXiv:1412.5123] [INSPIRE].
- [25] T. Hartman, C.A. Keller and B. Stoica, Universal Spectrum of 2d Conformal Field Theory in the Large c Limit, JHEP 09 (2014) 118 [arXiv:1405.5137] [INSPIRE].
- [26] S. Hellerman, A Universal Inequality for CFT and Quantum Gravity, JHEP 08 (2011) 130 [arXiv:0902.2790] [INSPIRE].
- [27] D. Friedan and C.A. Keller, Constraints on 2d CFT partition functions, JHEP 10 (2013) 180 [arXiv:1307.6562] [INSPIRE].
- [28] S. Collier, Y.-H. Lin and X. Yin, Modular Bootstrap Revisited, arXiv:1608.06241 [INSPIRE].
- [29] D. Pappadopulo, S. Rychkov, J. Espin and R. Rattazzi, OPE Convergence in Conformal Field Theory, Phys. Rev. D 86 (2012) 105043 [arXiv:1208.6449] [INSPIRE].
- [30] P. Kraus and A. Maloney, A cardy formula for three-point coefficients or how the black hole got its spots, JHEP 05 (2017) 160 [arXiv:1608.03284] [INSPIRE].
- [31] J. Cardy, A. Maloney and H. Maxfield, A new handle on three-point coefficients: OPE asymptotics from genus two modular invariance, JHEP 10 (2017) 136 [arXiv:1705.05855]
 [INSPIRE].
- [32] C.A. Keller, G. Mathys and I.G. Zadeh, *Bootstrapping Chiral CFTs at Genus Two*, arXiv:1705.05862 [INSPIRE].
- [33] M. Cho, S. Collier and X. Yin, Genus Two Modular Bootstrap, arXiv:1705.05865 [INSPIRE].
- [34] E. Perlmutter, Virasoro conformal blocks in closed form, JHEP 08 (2015) 088 [arXiv:1502.07742] [INSPIRE].
- [35] H. Chen, C. Hussong, J. Kaplan and D. Li, A Numerical Approach to Virasoro Blocks and the Information Paradox, JHEP 09 (2017) 102 [arXiv:1703.09727] [INSPIRE].
- [36] J.L. Cardy, Operator Content of Two-Dimensional Conformally Invariant Theories, Nucl. Phys. B 270 (1986) 186 [INSPIRE].
- [37] Y. Hikida, Y. Kusuki and T. Takayanagi, *ETH and Modular Invariance of 2D CFTs*, arXiv:1804.09658 [INSPIRE].
- [38] D. Pappadopulo, S. Rychkov, J. Espin and R. Rattazzi, OPE Convergence in Conformal Field Theory, Phys. Rev. D 86 (2012) 105043 [arXiv:1208.6449] [INSPIRE].

- [39] D. Harlow, J. Maltz and E. Witten, Analytic Continuation of Liouville Theory, JHEP 12 (2011) 071 [arXiv:1108.4417] [INSPIRE].
- [40] J. Maldacena, D. Simmons-Duffin and A. Zhiboedov, Looking for a bulk point, JHEP 01 (2017) 013 [arXiv:1509.03612] [INSPIRE].
- [41] A. Maloney, H. Maxfield and G.S. Ng, A conformal block Farey tail, JHEP 06 (2017) 117 [arXiv:1609.02165] [INSPIRE].
- [42] C.-M. Chang and Y.-H. Lin, Bootstrapping 2D CFTs in the Semiclassical Limit, JHEP 08 (2016) 056 [arXiv:1510.02464] [INSPIRE].
- [43] A.L. Fitzpatrick, J. Kaplan, D. Li and J. Wang, On information loss in AdS₃/CFT₂, JHEP 05 (2016) 109 [arXiv:1603.08925] [INSPIRE].
- [44] P. Caputa, T. Numasawa and A. Veliz-Osorio, Out-of-time-ordered correlators and purity in rational conformal field theories, PTEP 2016 (2016) 113B06 [arXiv:1602.06542] [INSPIRE].
- [45] P. Caputa, Y. Kusuki, T. Takayanagi and K. Watanabe, *Out-of-Time-Ordered Correlators in* $(T^2)^n/\mathbb{Z}_n$, *Phys. Rev.* **D** 96 (2017) 046020 [arXiv:1703.09939] [INSPIRE].
- [46] E. Perlmutter, Bounding the Space of Holographic CFTs with Chaos, JHEP 10 (2016) 069 [arXiv:1602.08272] [INSPIRE].
- [47] Y. Gu and X.-L. Qi, Fractional Statistics and the Butterfly Effect, JHEP 08 (2016) 129 [arXiv:1602.06543] [INSPIRE].
- [48] A.L. Fitzpatrick and J. Kaplan, A Quantum Correction To Chaos, JHEP 05 (2016) 070 [arXiv:1601.06164] [INSPIRE].
- [49] J. Maldacena, S.H. Shenker and D. Stanford, A bound on chaos, JHEP 08 (2016) 106 [arXiv:1503.01409] [INSPIRE].
- [50] P. Caputa, M. Nozaki and T. Takayanagi, Entanglement of local operators in large-N conformal field theories, PTEP 2014 (2014) 093B06 [arXiv:1405.5946] [INSPIRE].
- [51] S. He, T. Numasawa, T. Takayanagi and K. Watanabe, Quantum dimension as entanglement entropy in two dimensional conformal field theories, Phys. Rev. D 90 (2014) 041701 [arXiv:1403.0702] [INSPIRE].
- [52] T. Numasawa, Scattering effect on entanglement propagation in RCFTs, JHEP 12 (2016) 061 [arXiv:1610.06181] [INSPIRE].
- [53] P. Caputa, Y. Kusuki, T. Takayanagi and K. Watanabe, Evolution of Entanglement Entropy in Orbifold CFTs, J. Phys. A 50 (2017) 244001 [arXiv:1701.03110] [INSPIRE].
- [54] S. He, Conformal Bootstrap to Rényi Entropy in 2D Liouville and Super-Liouville CFTs, arXiv:1711.00624 [INSPIRE].
- [55] W.-Z. Guo, S. He and Z.-X. Luo, Entanglement entropy in (1+1)D CFTs with multiple local excitations, JHEP 05 (2018) 154 [arXiv:1802.08815] [INSPIRE].
- [56] L. Hadasz, Z. Jaskolski and P. Suchanek, Recursive representation of the torus 1-point conformal block, JHEP 01 (2010) 063 [arXiv:0911.2353] [INSPIRE].
- [57] R. Poghossian, Recursion relations in CFT and N = 2 SYM theory, JHEP 12 (2009) 038 [arXiv:0909.3412] [INSPIRE].
- [58] D. Das, S. Datta and S. Pal, Modular crossings, OPE coefficients and black holes, arXiv:1712.01842 [INSPIRE].

- [59] V.S. Rychkov and A. Vichi, Universal Constraints on Conformal Operator Dimensions, Phys. Rev. D 80 (2009) 045006 [arXiv:0905.2211] [INSPIRE].
- [60] D. Simmons-Duffin, A Semidefinite Program Solver for the Conformal Bootstrap, JHEP 06 (2015) 174 [arXiv:1502.02033] [INSPIRE].
- [61] D. Simmons-Duffin, The Conformal Bootstrap, in Proceedings, Theoretical Advanced Study Institute in Elementary Particle Physics: New Frontiers in Fields and Strings (TASI 2015), Boulder, CO, U.S.A., June 1–26, 2015, pp. 1–74 (2017), [DOI:10.1142/9789813149441_0001]
 [arXiv:1602.07982] [INSPIRE].
- [62] O. Lunin and S.D. Mathur, Correlation functions for M(N)/S(N) orbifolds, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A16S1C (2001) 967 [INSPIRE].
- [63] C.-M. Chang and Y.-H. Lin, Bootstrap, universality and horizons, JHEP 10 (2016) 068 [arXiv:1604.01774] [INSPIRE].